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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwémdking statements within the meaning of SectioA 27 the Securities Act of 1933,
amended (the Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchangeddt934, as amended (thékchange Act”). Such statemer
are based upon current expectations that invoskes nd uncertainties. Any statements containegirhérat are not statements of historical
may be deemed to be forward-looking statements.d¢/such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “estimates,” fpdicts,” “potential,” “continue,”
“strategy,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “gects,” “intends” and similar expressions are idtghto identify forwardeoking statement
Our discussions relating to our liquidity and capresources, our business strategy, our compegtidind the future of our market segment,
acquisition of CardioGenics Inc., an Ontario Canegligoration(“CardioGenics” ), among others, contain such statements. Our acgalt:
and the timing of certain events may differ sigrafitly from the results discussed in the forwamking statements.

Our forward-looking statements in this Annual Repam Form 10-K are based on managensentirrent views and assumptions regar
future events and speak only as of their datesuidertake no obligation to publicly update or revésy forwardeoking statements, whett
as a result of new information, future events dreowise, except as required by the federal seesritws. Unless the context requ
otherwise, the terms “we,” “us” and “ounefer to CardioGenics Holdings Inc., our predecessand subsidiaries. Our acquisition
CardioGenics as discussed in this Annual RepoR@m 10-K is sometimes referred to as the “Cardim@eAcquisition.”

COMPANY OVERVIEW

Prior to the CardioGenics Acquisition, our primdmysiness was providing financial and investmentrimition to the investment commut
which we had been doing since 1989. In July 2008,cansummated the CardioGenics Acquisition andhiba focus of our business v
changed to the development of products targetiegrttmunoassay segment of the point-of-care in \dtegnostic (“IVD”) testing market. |
order to better reflect the new focus of our bussneve changed our name to CardioGenics HoldingdrirOctober 2009.

CardioGenics was founded in Toronto, Canada in 199Dr. Yahia Gawad to develop technology and peteltargeting the immunoas:
segment of the IVD testing market. These include:

e The QL Care Analyzer (tH*QLCA" ), a stat-of-the-art proprietary Poi-of-Care (“* POC” ) immunoassay analyze
e A series of immunoassay test products to detediaamarkers (th* Cardiovascular Test¢ ); and,
e Paramagnetic beads developed through its propyietathod, which improves their light collection€l“ Bead<" ).

We are a Nevada corporation. Our address is 62%thala Drive, Unit 8, Mississauga, Ontario, Canad¥® ILW8, and our telephone numbe
905-673-8501.




OUR INDUSTRY

CardioGenics IVD POC Testing Markets

IVD Market

Medical device products include disposable medagplies, wound-management supplies and diagnpstiducts. In-Vitrobiagnostic
(“IVD") is the medical device market segment that inclugegents, diagnostics test products, instrumemtatand other related test
products supplied to both clinical and researclodatories. IVD refers to testing outside the bodlythe identification of disease states, u
samples as body fluids (blood, urine) and tissbepéies and tissue sections). The IVD is a wsthblished market, offering essential proc
used by health care professionals.

According to the report It Vitro Diagnostics Market (Clinical Chemistry, fmunoassay, Diabetes Testing, Blood Testing, Mo
Diagnostics) — Global Industry Analysis, Size, $hatrowth and Forecast, 2012-2013&lblished by Transparency Market Research,
Market was valued at USD 46.0 billion in 2011 angexted to reach an estimated value of USD 74l@ibiin 2018, growing at a CAGR
7.1% from 2012 to 2018.

The need for cost containment, an increase inpatient procedures, technology advancements andging population are all contributi
factors in driving the high level of IVD growth.

According to the latest Enterprise Analysis Corgiora(www.eacorp.com) report in 2013, the world kedrfor IVD products is estimated
USD 52.8 billion in 2012 with an average growtheraf 8.4% in the last preceding 12 years. Furtther market is expected to grow an ave
of 5.5% over the next 5 years. North America, Eeroffrica, Middle East and Japan make up 86% otdta IVD market.

Point-Of-Care (POC) Testing Market

Point-Of-Care (POC) testing refers to testing performedidatsf a centralized facility, with results availalwithin minutes. POC testing
divided into personal use tests, such as pregntestg, and professional use tests, that are ademieisin a physicias’ office or hospit:
emergency ward. Our tests will compete in the msifnal use testing market sector.

According to the same Enterprise Analysis Corporatieport in 2013, the market for the POC is edthat $5,346 million with 7% grow
over the prior year. It is anticipated that mosthef growth will come from increased use of cardiwrkers and new assays for cancer ma
and diabetes/cardiac disease markers.

There is a wide perception that POC tests are rexpensive than labased tests and that patient test results areddbke historical recor
There is also the perception that once the paéewes the acute care area, the baseline POQItestsin that unit are of little value because
POC testing results do not correlate with lab-basetems.

The impact of POC testing on improving patiertate is clear and has been well documented. Futierimpact of POC testing on sav
healthcare resources was also demonstrated by numagencies and institutions.

Two critical characteristics are necessary for REsE products to become more prevalent; POC testisigits must correlate with lab res
and the POC devices must be more consistent andtrobdelivering those results.
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Immunoassay Marke

Immunodiagnostic tests or immunoassays are set fpar other VD clinical testing methods as thepyde specificity. Results obtained
be attached to a specific marker, and therefopgeeaific disease. The principal behind immunoassayise Lock and Key Theory; a certain
opens a certain lock but not others.

According to the report of Enterprise Analysis Gugtion, the 2012 immunoassay testing marketrsiifesents the largest segment of the
market by revenue amounting to USD 13.9 billione Thstest growing segments of the IVD market aratémic Pathology (8.3%), Clinic
Molecular (7.2%), Point-o€are (7.0%) and Immunoassay (6.7%). The immunoadtayg is now mature. Companies continue to dgveiew
immunoassays and immunoassay instrument platfarhgther improve the sensitivity of the assays argand the potential of immunoass
for the future.

Cardiovascular Disease (CVD) Testing Market

Cardiac markers are proteins released from heastimuvhen it is damaged as a result of a heaktkaftayocardial infarction), when the blc
supply to part of the heart is interrupted. Physisiuse cardiac markers in two ways; to diagnasediac event in a hospital emergency r
or within the hospital or to evaluate a risk ofaadiovascular event occurring. The routine markénsiyocardial infarction — CKYB, troponir
and myoglobin and recently BNP are used in theeacaite and tests such as cholesterol are usealttaéy risk.

Until recently, Troponin and CHAB were the lead cardiac markers. Brain Natriu€@petide (BNP) was recently introduced to diffaede
between a myocardial infarction and heart faildr@umber of companies are focused on developingcsdiac markers.

Global tracking of healthcare data indicates thdD@ontribute onethird of all global deaths annually. The WHO estiesathat global death
CVD will increase by 36 percent over the 20 yeansibing 19992020. Costs to confront CVD are high, estimatetdegdJSD 313.5 billion i
the USA in 2009, growing at a rate of 2@&% per annum. According to a recently publishedketareport, the market for Cardiac P
products is estimated at approximately USD 2 hillio 2011 and rose by 9% over the prior year. Téas driven by the introduction of n
products and increase adoption of POC productsolly ealthcare providers and patients. Despiteniamey positive aspects of POC testing
report stresses that there are many key challanges marketing of POC products as healthcareigdens need evidence that POC diagno
provide lab-quality results and benefits, in tewhslinical usefulness, convenience and cost ireptd adopt them.

As a result of the stated burden of CVD on healthaasts and providers, there exists an indusidg need for better testing method:
provide physicians with essential tools to combé growth. With greater demand from regulatoryhatities to provide more accurate tes
in a quicker manner, the opportunity is there ftwetter POC platform.
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Magnetic Particles Marke

Magnetic particles, or beads, are widely used esstiid phase for binding tests, both immunoassaly @NA binding. Magnetic beads
important for automating and simplifying the methagsed for isolation and detection of biomolecute®oth research and routine clini
laboratories. Eight of the top ten (10) IVD companéemploy magnetic particles in their fully autoetbhnalyzers.

An independent 2006 market research report, prddareCardioGenics by Adventus Research Inc. (théventus Report”and sponsored |
the National Research Council of Canada (NRC)megtd the market for magnetic beads for immunoasaag molecular diagnostics to
approximately $900 million (between $833 millionda$1.3 billion). This report of market size estiemtdid not include magnetic be
produced inhouse by some of the IVD test manufacturers or $gadduced for research applications. The AdveRtggort was conduct
using several methods, including interviews witadimg particle-manufacturers and the esérs, published industry reports and data
leading IVD manufacturers.

Naked Beads Finished Beads Naked Beads

As stated in the Adventus Report, according to Myaaleading magnetic beads manufacturer, the $argart of its Molecular Systems’
business is OEM sales of magnetic beads to IVD emieg. Dynal stated that “the IVD market is vemgand still growing”Further, th
magnetic bead-based part of this market is grovaingn even higher rate per yeaftcording to Dynal, magnetic beads are now the
standard for immunoassay testing, as opposed & t#dhnologies such as microtitre plate based.tb&icleic acid testing makes up a sm
portion of the IVD market, but is fast growing (cemtly USD 2 billion). Magnetic beads are the mominmon solid phase employed in
market.

Furthermore, according to Dynal, as stated in thgehtus Report, endser business rather than OEM business (referred fanctionalize
and naked beads markets respectively) goes toroiisead routine laboratories within Genomics, Espien Profiling and Proteomics. 1
market size for Genomics, including DNA and RNArextion and purification products was USD 300 moilin 2001. According to the sa
Enterprise Analysis Corporation report in 2013 1iherket size of molecular diagnostics was estimaidze USD 3.8 billion in 2012.
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OUR PRODUCTS

The CardioGenics Products

QL Care Analyzer

The QLCA represents a shift in the design of poirtare (POC) analyzers. The QLCA is a small, goeiastandalone and complete
automated POC immunoassay analyzer. The QLCA hesessfully miniaturized lab. test technology, aminbined it with a simplifie
mechanical design and proprietary triggering mersman

The QLCA uses a proprietary self-metering cartritiggoerform immunoassay tests at the POC. Eachidgatis preloaded with our beac
which have been coated with specific proteins whigsult in binding the target marker. A few drogsaole blood added to the Cartric
initiate the binding reaction and the chemilumireegaeaction needed to deliver sensitive and ateteat results. Operation of the QLCA ¢
not require specialized training and testing candrapleted in 15 minutes.

POC immunoassay analyzers are not new; howevee, obthhe commercial analyzers can replicate thsiseity and accuracy of a test don
a medical lab. The QLCA was designed specificallgeliver the required laboratory sensitivity amdwracy. The QLCA employs chemi
light generation or “chemiluminescenc€CL” ), the same technology used in the centralized medids. The QLCA uses a pater
automated electronic process to trigger CL, whichamces light collection, speeds up marker bin@dingd increases sensitivity. Further,
QLCA employs several other proprietary technologgedeliver lab-quality test results.

We have rigorously tested the QLCA protocols andehzompared our test results against medical |agréest data. Based on these inte
test results, we have consistently met or exce#ltedensitivity standards of medical laboratory immassay equipment.

Cardiovascular Tests

To support the use of the QLCA, we have developed immunoassay tests designed to identify candiadkers in the blood at the time ¢
heart attack.

Test Description
Troponin | (Tnl) e Tnl testing is the current routine testing for atattack

e Tnlis a heart muscle protein, released in theddtream shortly after a heart attack
(myocardial infarction or MI)

e Current laboratory analyzers cannot detect Tnbteefl-6 hours after the onset of
symptoms, when Tnl concentration in the blood readts detection threshol

e Our test will take only 15 minutes to deliver gtitative results, allowing physicians
to obtain much more rapid results and thereforelacate patient triag

Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor Type-1 (PAI-1)

This test will help to optimize the performanceadieart drug (tPA” or tissue
Plasminogen Activator), a clot buster used asitiseline of therapy for Ml patient:

e This proprietary whole blood test will quantify F-1 levels within 15 minute:
e Forty percent of patients do not respond to tPfacarecognized only after the

“golden hour” (the time period in which permaneatah damage can be prevented)
has passe(




Heart Failure Risk Stratification (HFRS) e We have discovered a family of related proteing &na released into the bloodstre
during heart failure

e We are developing a proprietary test, the HeattiFaRisk Stratification or HFRS t¢
to stratify the risk of death in patients with hef@ilure, thus permitting the initiatic
of appropriate therapy at an early ste

Heart Failure Genomics Risk (HFGR) e We are developing a proprietary HFGR test thatiptedhe response of heart fail
patients to routinely administered dru

e The need to measure the precise response to thege it a timely manner wot
minimize the trial and error methods now used bstals to optimize drugs best sui
to each patien

These tests are designed to be administered dtlmindiagnostic and management process of patidtiisheart disease. The full scope of
core technologies our self metering cartridge adl a® the knowhow we have developed over the years are coverddruour patel
applications.

Currently, our Tnl test product is in the pilottieg phase. Although pilot testing is approximatBBf6 complete, testing has been suspe
until the Company can raise additional funds toecafie remaining costs associated with the pilstirtg program. Once the pilot testing
concluded, testing for regulatory approval will ib&iated. The filing for U.S. and European regalgtapproval is expected before the en
2015. Upon receipt of FDA approval, we intend torkeathe QLCA and the Cardiovascular Tests throaghajor 1VD distributor. We ha
initiated preliminary discussions with several loé tTier 1 IVD companies, and we anticipate thatwilecommence negotiations with one
more distribution partners before we receive FDfrrapal . In accordance with industry practice, we intencémter into a license agreem
with our distribution partner for the manufactureaistribution of our products.

Paramagnetic Bead

Clinical and research laboratories use paramagpaetiticles as a solid surface in heterogeneous imoamsay tests. Paramagnetic (magr
beads are the most common solid phase employedgdimmunoassays tests in these laboratories. Tdeegs of phase separation (separ
of the magnetic beads) is done by application célantromagnetic field. The majority of centralizaoratory testing involve the measuren
of light generated on the surface of paramagneticb coated with biological material as the outcofribe measurement.

Our Magnetic Beads represent a significant proddetaince. Most paramagnetic beads are made of xide,and all are traditionally black
brown. We have developed proprietary process fatimg the beads with a layer of silver, making th&hite, and more sensitive to light. (
production process is also significantly less espenthan those used by our competitors. We hatenially tested our Beads againsi
commercially available beads, and have found duerscoated Beads to be five times more sensitive tratitional black or brown magne
particles. The results of this testing was preskatel published in an international conference.
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On January 19, 2009 CardioGenics Inc., one of ama@ian subsidiaries, entered into a Supply, Dewedmt & Distribution Agreement wi
Merck Chimie S.A.S. (“Merck Chimie”) (the “Merck Agement”),pursuant to which CardioGenics is required to hnverck Chimie wit
certain quantities of CardioGenics’ proprietaryailcoated paramagnetic beads (the “CardioGeniss Samples”)which Merck Chimie i
then required to encapsulate, on a test-basisg udierck Chimies proprietary encapsulation process. After Merchkm@h selects the be
encapsulation process, Merck Chimie agreed to #stablish the manufacturing parameters for thel fmzapsulated beads (th#1érck
Encapsulated Beads”) and thereafter soaleproduction for commercial distribution of the idie Encapsulated Beads. Currently, Me
Chimie has concluded that magnetic beads encapdulatCardioGenics meet the product specificationssommercial products. Marketi
these magnetic beads has not commenced yet aMieotk Chemie and CardioGenics have not agreedetetims of the final agreement.

Pursuant to the current executed Merck AgreemergrcM Chimie has the exclusive right, for ten (1@ass, to distribute the Mer
Encapsulated Beads on a worldwide basis, with G&elhics receiving 30% of the net sales proceedbeoMerck Encapsulated Beads
Merck receiving 70% of such net sales proceedsckir responsible for manufacturing and distribgtthe Merck Encapsulated Beads.
company is in process of renegotiating the agreémigth Merck Chimie in order to ensure sale of proid

OUR STRATEGY
The success of our business depends on our dbildiptain the requisite financing and be able to:
e complete the development and testing of our QLCA @ur cardiovascular test
e obtain FDA approval of our QLCA and the cardiovdactests
e develop further tests that can be run on our QL
e commercialize our Bead
We will require additional funds in order to implent our full business strategy. Accordingly, welwigéed to raise additional funds throl
public or private financing, strategic relationshigr other arrangements. We do not anticipate géingrany significant revenue until after

FDA has approved our OLCA and first cardiovasctést and Merck Chimie initiates commercializing &eads pursuant to our agreen
with them.

Since our strength is product development and iatiom, our strategy is focused on exploiting thiersgth. In terms of product developrnr
and innovation, we employ our internal resourcedeweelop our products through the various phasekeélopment. We also rely on exte
service providers to supplement our internal talémproduct development.

We will outsource product manufacturing. In ternfsttie QLCA, both the cartridge assembly as welltlees analyzer assembly will
contracted out to different OEM providers with faeilities and expertise to deliver quality produdtVe will maintain a quality control proc:
to ensure that the products meet the predeternsipecifications.

Product marketing and distribution will be achiewxadough partnerships with global companies witldevieach. As we have done with
magnetic beads, the QLCA will be marketed by adtiparty through licensing and distribution agreetseNotwithstanding this strategy,
also intend to evaluate the feasibility of direatharketing our magnetic beads and QLCA to apprtpradusers and may use such di
marketing efforts to supplement the efforts of future distribution partner(s).
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We are also focusing on protecting our intellecfuralperty and know how though maintaining a pafiing process on a global basis as \
as maintaining confidentiality agreements with staff, employees and service providers under cotuahagreements.

Although we believe in these strategies, goalstargkts, we cannot guarantee that we will be ssfgleim implementing them or that, evel
implemented; they will be effective in creating @fftable business. In addition, we are dependenhaving sufficient cash to carry out
strategies.

Regulation

CardioGenics Products

Our QL Analyzer, Cartridge and Tests are classifieanedical devices. Our beads are reagents otalddsting equipment. Accordingly, tt
are subject to a number of regulations in the glictsons where our products are targeted to be sold

United States

The testing, production and sale of IVD products subject to regulation by numerous state and &d@vernment authorities, principally
FDA.

Pursuant to th&.S. Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic A&D&C Act”), the FDA regulates the preclinical and clinical itegt manufactur
labeling, distribution and promotion of medical d®s.

Medical devices are classified into three categori@ass I, Class Il or Class lll. The classifioatof a device is based on the level of col
necessary to assure the safety and effectivendbe afevice. Generally, the complexity of the sudwioin and the approval times are base
the regulatory class of the device. Device clasaifon depends on the intended use and also tieatiwhs for use of the device. Classifica
is also based on the risk the device poses todtient and/or the user. Class | devices includécdswvith the lowest risk, and Class Il dev
are those with the greatest risk. Class | devicesabject to general control, Class Il devicessatgect to general controls and special con
and Class lll devices are subject to general ctsnad must receive a Premarket Assessment or RBMAebFDA.

Before some Class | and most Class Il devices eadntboduced in the market, either the manufactaretistributor of the device is requirec
follow the pre-market notification process desalitie section 510(k) of the FD&C Act. A 510(k) ispae-marketing submission made to
FDA to demonstrate that the device to be marketedsi safe and effective, and is substantially edemt to a legally marketed devi
Applicants must compare their 510(k) device to onenore similar devices currently on the US magad support their claims for substar
equivalency. The FDA requires a rigorous demonstmadf substantial equivalency. It generally takie®e to six months from submissior
obtain 510(k) clearance. If any device cleared uglp510(k) is modified or enhanced, or if thereaishange of use of the device, a
amended 510(k) application must be submitted.

According to FDA regulations and our managemeninteagprior experiences with submissions of similardaicis, our QLCA and laun
product (Tnl) will be classified as a Class Il deviand will be subjected to the 510(K) processtHeuy a second test product of ours (HF
will also be subjected to the same 510(K) procéssfor both tests, predicate devices are comméycélailable. For other test produs
depending on the claims and with a prior agreemetit the FDA, the submissions would be either a PBIA510(K). We have not y
approached the FDA for that purpose.
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Canada

Health Canada sets out the requirements goverhiangale, importation and advertisement of mediesiogs. These regulations are intende
ensure that medical devices distributed in Canadaath safe and effective. We are also requirecbtaply with certain procedures for
disposal of waste products under the Canadian @bd&actice for the Management of Biological Wa@te “Code”). We believe we a
currently in compliance with all required Code geions.

Europe

Our products will be subject to registration untter EU Medical Device Directives for in-vitro diaggtic products.

Other countries

Our products will be subject to the regulationso§ country where they are sold, and we will méilertecessary applications for approval
country-by-country basis.

Competition
CardioGenics Competitors

Numerous companies provide Point Of Care (POC)ymtl many with cardiovascular test offerings. widaer, in terms oquantitative PO
products, few companies operate in this space wittketed devices. These include:

° Biosite Diagnostics Incorporate

° Response Biomedicals Cor

° Roche POC division; ar

° i-Stat division of Abbott Diagnostic

The first 2 companies employ fluorescence measuramia their platforms whereas Roche employs bdtloréscence and spectrosce
methods for detection, whileStat employs electrochemical testing. We beliewa thur technology and products in development wfiiér
superior products to the POC market. None of thevabcompanies offer chemiluminescence in its ptaitfoa technology that is well-
recognized for its superiority as evidenced bydisinance in the laboratory testing market. Weelvelithat harnessing chemiluminescent
our QLCA will fulfill the clinical demands for fasind accurate quantitative results at patient bedsi

Research and Development

Our efforts are focused on the development of du€® and our cardiovascular tests and the commezeiddn of our beads. Over the ye
2014 and 2013 we incurred net expenses of $50@08%419,364, respectively, on those efforts.
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Website Technical Information

Our CardioGenics website (www.cardiogenics.com) tdmedwebsite of our wholly owned subsidiary, Lux8mps (www.luxspheres.com),
maintained by us internally and are hosted by Didash, which has hosting facilities located in Br€alifornia.

Employees

As of October 31, 2014, we had four 4 employeeseraf whom have an employment agreement with thrap2ay.

Financing Arrangements

None.

Increase in Authorized Shares

On October 17, 2012 a majority of our stockholdggproved an amendment to our articles of incorpmratvhich provided for, among ott
matters, an increase in the number of our authdrsteares of common stock from 65,000,000 to 1500@@0 On January 17, 2013
Company filed a Certificate of Amendment to the @amy’s Articles of Incorporation to increase the authedi common shares
150,000,000 and de-authorize the Company’s ClassnBnon stock.

Facilities

See “Item 2.—Properties.”

Legal Proceedings

See “Item 3.—Legal Proceedings.”

Where You Can Find More Information About Us

We are required to file annual, quarterly and autrreports, proxy statements and other informatith the SEC. You can read and copy
of this information at the SE€’Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Wggin, D.C. 20549 on official business days durihe
hours of 10:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. You may obtaioinfation on the operation of the Public ReferencerR by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC

0330. This information is also available from thHeC3s website at http://www.sec.gowVe will also gladly send any filing to you upoow
written request to Dr. Yahia Gawad, our Chief ExeeuOfficer, at 6295 Northam Drive, Unit 8, Miss#@iga, Ontario L4V 1W8.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

The requirements of being a public company may straur resources and distract our management

As a public company, we are subject to the repgmaguirements of the Exchange Act and the Sarb@mbsy Act. These requirements plac
strain on our systems and resources. The Exchaopeefuires that we file annual, quarterly and entreports with respect to our busir
and financial condition. The Sarban@gley Act requires that we maintain effective distire controls and procedures and internal confinc
financial reporting. Management has identified thiowing material weaknesses in our internal colstrover financial reporting; 1) lack
documented policies and procedures; 2) lack ofuress to account for complex and unusual trangagti®) there is no effective separatio
duties, which includes monitoring controls, betwdka members of management; and 4) lack of effeatéwiew of consolidated financ
statements.
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We are also required to document and test ourriatarontrol procedures in order to satisfy the nexments of Section 404 of the Sarbane:
Oxley Act, which requires annual management assassnof the effectiveness of our internal contmisr financial reporting. If we fail
achieve and maintain the adequacy of our intermaidrols, as such standards are modified, suppleademtamended from time to time, we t
not be able to ensure that we can conclude on gaoimg basis that we have effective internal costamter financial reporting in accorda
with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

In order to maintain and improve the effectivenesur disclosure controls and procedures and natecontrol over financial reportir
significant resources and management oversightbeiltequired. This may divert managememtttention from other business concerns, w
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrfesncial condition, results of operations aadtcflows. In addition, we may need to
additional accounting and financial staff with aggmiate public company experience and technicabaating knowledge, and we cannot as
you that we will be able to do so in a timely fashi

We have not earned any material revenues in our @iaGenics business unit since its incorporation awdly have a limited operatir
history in its current business, which raise doudibout our ability to continue as a going concern.

Our CardioGenics business unit has a limited opeydtistory in its current business and must besiared in the development stage. It
not generated any material revenues since its fictepnd we will, in all likelihood, continue toéar operating expenses without signific
revenues until we complete development of our @aaticular Tests and commercialize our QLCA anddaeliovascular Tests. The prim
source of funds for our CardioGenics business hast been the sale of common stock. We cannot awatreve will be able to generate |
significant revenues or income. These circumstantaise us dependent on additional financial supypuatit profitability is achieved. There
no assurance that we will ever be profitable andhaxe not yet achieved profitable operations. Tliasrs raise substantial doubt that we
be able to continue as a going concern.

Our independent registered accounting firm, in tleaudit report related to our financial statementsr the fiscal year ended October !
2014, expressed substantial doubt about our abiihycontinue as a going concern

As a result of our continued losses, our independEgistered public accounting firm has includedeaplanatory paragraph in its report on
financial statements for the fiscal year ended Bet®1, 2014, expressing substantial doubt asrtalsility to continue as a going concern.
inclusion of the going concern explanatory paraggrapthe report of our independent registered puaticounting firm may make it mc
difficult for us to secure additional financing enter into strategic relationships on terms acd®gtio us, if at all, and may materially :
adversely affect the terms of any financing thatmagy obtain.

We need to raise additional financing to supportetihesearch and development of our CardioGenics hass but we cannot be sure that
will be able to obtain additional financing on tersnfavorable to us when needed. If we are unabl@ktain additional financing to meet ot
needs, our operations may be adversely affecteteoninated.

Our ability to develop new test products for our@Lis dependent upon our ability to raise significadditional financing when needed. If
are unable to obtain such financing, we will notdie to fully develop and commercialize our platioand technology. Our future cap
requirements will depend upon many factors, ineigdi

° continued scientific progress in our research anabpment program

° cost and timing of conducting clinical trials arekking regulatory approvals and patent prosecut
° competing technological and market developme

° our ability to establish additional collaborativeationships; an

° the effect of commercialization activities and figiexpansions if and as require

We have limited financial resources and to datenragerial cash flow from the operations of our @a@knics business unit and we
dependent for funds on our ability to sell our commnstock, primarily on a private placement bashser€ can be no assurance that we wi
able to obtain financing on that basis in lighfadtors such as the market demand for our secgiritie state of financial markets generally
other relevant factors. Any sale of our common lstiocthe future will result in dilution to existingtockholders. Furthermore, there is
assurance that we will not incur debt in the futtihat we will have sufficient funds to repay amyuire indebtedness or that we will not def
on our future debts, jeopardizing our businessiligbFinally, we may not be able to borrow orgaiadditional capital in the future to meet
needs or to otherwise provide the capital necegsarpntinue the development of our technology,clvtight result in the loss of some ol
of your investment in our common stock.

13




We may acquire other businesses, license righttetthnologies or products, form alliances, or disgosf or spineff businesses, which cou
cause us to incur significant expenses and couldyasively affect profitability.

We may pursue acquisitions, technology licensimgrayements, and strategic alliances, or dispose sppinoff some of our businesses, as
of our business strategy. We may not complete ttrassactions in a timely manner, on a cefé¢ctive basis, or at all, and may not realize
expected benefits. If we are successful in makimg@quisition, the products and technologies thataaquired may not be successful or
require significantly greater resources and invesitsthan originally anticipated. We may not be=dblintegrate acquisitions successfully
our existing business and could incur or assumafgignt debt and unknown or contingent liabiliti&8e could also experience negative ef
on our reported results of operations from acquaisior dispositiorrelated charges, amortization of expenses relatéatangibles and charg
for impairment of long-term assets.

The expiration or loss of patent protection anddieses may affect our future revenues and operatingome.

Much of our business relies on patent and tradenaauk other intellectual property protection. Altgbumost of the challenges to
intellectual property would likely come from othieusinesses, governments may also challenge irttedlegroperty protections. To the exi
our intellectual property is successfully challesigi@validated, or circumvented or to the exterides not allow us to compete effectively,
business will suffer. To the extent that countdesnot enforce our intellectual property rightdmthe extent that countries require compul
licensing of our intellectual property, our futurevenues and operating income will be reduced. @uncipal patents and trademarks
described in greater detail in the sections captipfiPatents, Trademarks, and Licenses.”

Competitors’intellectual property may prevent us from sellingioproducts or have a material adverse effect orr duture profitability and
financial condition.

Competitors may claim that one or more of our patslinfringe upon their intellectual property. Riedng an intellectual property infringeme
claim can be costly and time consuming and mayireqis to enter into license agreements. We cagunatantee that we would be abl
obtain license agreements on commercially reasents. A successful claim of patent or otherlletéual property infringement cot
subject us to significant damages or an injuncpoeventing the manufacture, sale or use of ourctteproducts. Any of these events ci
have a material adverse effect on our profitabditgl financial condition.
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We may not be able to adequately protect our irtetial property

We believe the patents, trade secrets and othelleictiual property we use are important to our ess, and any unauthorized use of
intellectual property by third parties may adveysaffect our business and reputation. We rely @nititellectual property laws and contrac
arrangements with our employees, business partmetothers to protect such intellectual propergts. Filing, prosecuting, defending
enforcing patents on all of our technologies aratipcts throughout the world would be prohibitivelypensive. Competitors may, without
authorization, use our intellectual property to elep their own competing technologies and productgurisdictions where we have 1
obtained patent protection. These technologiegpaoducts may not be covered by any of our patexiind or other intellectual property rigt
Furthermore, the validity, enforceability and scageprotection of intellectual property in some oties where we may conduct busines
uncertain and still evolving, and these laws matypnotect intellectual property rights to the sagméent as the laws of the United States.

Many companies have encountered significant problanprotecting and defending their intellectuabparty rights in foreign jurisdictior
Many countries, including certain countries in Eagphave compulsory licensing laws under which targaowner may be compelled to gi
licenses to third parties (for example, the pamnher has failed to “work’the invention in that country or the third partyshgatente
improvements). In addition, many countries limi¢ tanforceability of patents against government eigsnor government contractors. In tr
countries, the patent owner may have limited reesdivhich could materially diminish the value o# thatent. Moreover, litigation involvii
patent or other intellectual property matters i@ thited States or in foreign countries may be s&ay in the future to enforce our intellec
property rights, which could result in substantakts and diversion of our resources, and have tarimlaadverse effect on our busin
financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to numerous governmental regulatiomsd it can be costly to comply with these regutais and to develop complie
products and processe

Our products are subject to regulation by the W&d and Drug Administration (“FDA”)and numerous international, federal, and

authorities. The process of obtaining regulatorgrapals to market a medical device can be costty taneconsuming, and approvals mi
not be granted for future products, or additiorsdsuof existing products, on a timely basis, #latDelays in the receipt of, or failure to obi
approvals for, future products, or additional usé®xisting products, could result in delayed raation of product revenues, reductior
revenues, and in substantial additional costs.driqular, in the United States our products agulaed under the 1976 Medical De\
Amendments to the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, wligcadministered by the FDA. We believe that tiARwill classify our products ¢
“Class II" devices, thus requiring us to submitthe FDA a pramarket notification form or 510(k). The FDA useg th10(k) to substantic
product claims that are made by medical device ffi@twrers prior to marketing. In our 510(k) not#imon, we must, among other thir
establish that the product we plan to market idSsantially equivalentto (1) a product that was on the market prior ®ddoption of the 19°
Medical Device Amendment or (2) a product thatFReA has previously cleared.

The FDA review process of a 510(k) notification dast anywhere from three to six months or evergdéonand the FDA must issue a writ
order finding “substantial equivalencb&fore a company can market a medical device. Wewarently developing a group of cardiovasc
tests that we will have to clear with the FDA thgbiuthe 510(k) notification procedures. These tesdpcts are crucial for our success and i
do not receive 510(k) clearance for a particuladpct, we will not be able to market these prodirctthe United States, which will hav
material adverse effect on our revenues, profitgkahd financial condition.
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In addition, no assurance can be given that weresilain in compliance with applicable FDA and ottregulatory requirements once clear:
or approval has been obtained for a product. Wet nmesir expense and spend time and effort to ensamgpliance with these comp
regulations. Possible regulatory actions couldudel warning letters, fines, damages, injunctiong) penalties, recalls, seizures of
products and criminal prosecution. These actionddcoesult in, among other things: substantial rficaions to our business practices
operations; refunds, recalls, or seizures of oodpcts; a total or partial shutdown of productiohniles we or our suppliers remedy the alle
violation; the inability to obtain future pmaarket clearances or approvals; and, withdrawasispensions of current products from the me
Any of these events could disrupt our businessheavé a material adverse effect on our revenuefitagiyitity and financial condition.

Changes in third-party payor reimbursement regulatis can negatively affect our business.

By regulating the maximum amount of reimbursemaey/ twill provide for blood testing services, thipdsty payors, such as HMOs, pay-pel
service insurance plans, Medicare and Medicaid,icdinectly affect the pricing or the relative atttiveness of our diagnostic products.
example, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid iBesvset the level of reimbursement of fees forotldesting services for Medici
beneficiaries. If thirdparty payors decrease the reimbursement amountsidod testing services, it may decrease the amibantphysiciar
and hospitals are able to charge patients for sechices. Consequently, we wowither need to charge less for our products orri
reduction in our profit margins. If the governmemtd thirdparty payors do not provide for adequate coveragkraimbursement levels
allow health care providers to use our products dismand for our products will decrease.

Laws and regulations affecting government benefitograms could impose new obligations on us, require to change our busine
practices, and restrict our operations in the futu

Our industry is also subject to various federaftest and international laws and regulations pdrtgirto government benefit progr:
reimbursement, price reporting and regulation, hedith care fraud and abuse, including &idikback and false claims laws, the Medit
Rebate Statute, the Veterans Health Care Act, ragididual state laws relating to pricing and saed marketing practices. Violations of th
laws may be punishable by criminal and/or civil g@ms, including, in some instances, substanif@sf, imprisonment, and exclusion fr
participation in federal and state health care o, including Medicare, Medicaid, and Veteransnistration health programs. These |
and regulations are broad in scope and they afjedub evolving interpretations, which could reguus to incur substantial costs assoc
with compliance or to alter one or more of our sate marketing practices. In addition, violatiorfstioese laws, or allegations of si
violations, could disrupt our business and resuét material adverse effect on our revenues, piufity, and financial condition.

Our research and development efforts may not succeedeveloping commercially successful productsdaechnologies, which may cau
our revenue and profitability to decline.

To remain competitive, we must continue to launelw products and technologies. To accomplish thes,must commit substantial effol
funds, and other resources to research and develtpi high rate of failure is inherent in the @ and development of new products
technologies. We must make ongoing substantialreipges without any assurance that its effort$ mélcommercially successful. Failure
occur at any point in the process, including adignificant funds have been invested.

Promising new product candidates may fail to rebehmarket or may only have limited commercial gsschecause of efficacy or sa
concerns, failure to achieve positive clinical ames, inability to obtain necessary regulatory apais, limited scope of approved u:
excessive costs to manufacture, the failure tdblistaor maintain intellectual property rights,infringement of the intellectual property rig
of others. Even if we successfully develop new potsl or enhancements or new generations of outirgkiproducts, they may be quic
rendered obsolete by changing customer preferenbasging industry standards, or competitagrebvations. Innovations may not be acce
quickly in the marketplace because of, among otthéngs, entrenched patterns of clinical practice umcertainty over thirgharty
reimbursement. We cannot state with certainty wbenvhether any of our products under developmetit v launched or whether &
products will be commercially successful. Failusdaunch successful new products or new uses fstimy products may cause our produc
become obsolete, causing our revenues and operasuolis to suffer.
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New products and technological advances by our cetitprs may negatively affect our results of opecats.

Our products face intense competition from our cetitqrs’ products. Competitorgroducts may be safer, more effective, more efiebt
marketed or sold, or have lower prices or supgrasformance features than our products. We camedligi with certainty the timing or imps
of the introduction of competitors’ products.

We depend on key members of our management andhiiie staff and, if we fail to retain and recruiualified individuals, our ability tc
execute our business strategy and generate saladdvoe harmed.

We are highly dependent on the principal memberuofmanagement and scientific staff. The lossngf af these key personnel, including
particular Dr. Yahia Gawad, our Chief Executive iGd#f, might impede the achievement of our busiradgectives. We may not be able
continue to attract and retain skilled and expegenscientific, marketing and manufacturing persbron acceptable terms in the ful
because numerous medical products and other higimaéogy companies compete for the services oftlyesilified individuals. We curren
do not maintain key man life insurance on any af@uployees.

The manufacture of many of our products is a highgxacting and complex process, and if we or oneoaf suppliers encounter probler
manufacturing products, our business could suffer.

The manufacture of many of our products is a higi¥gicting and complex process, due in part totsegulatory requirements. Problems 1
arise during manufacturing for a variety of reasdnsluding equipment malfunction, failure to follospecific protocols and procedul
problems with raw materials, natural disasters, endronmental factors. In addition, we may useglgirsuppliers for certain products i
materials. If problems arise during the productiéa batch of product, that batch of product mayehi® be discarded. This could, among ¢
things, lead to increased costs, lost revenue, darttacustomer relations, time and expense speesiigating the cause and, depending o
cause, similar losses with respect to other batoh@soducts. If problems are not discovered befoesproduct is released to the market, r
and product liability costs may also be incurred.tfie extent we or one of our suppliers experiesignificant manufacturing problems, t
could have a material adverse effect on our revenand profitability.

Significant safety issues could arise for our proths, which could have a material adverse effectan revenues and financial conditior

All medical devices receive regulatory approvaldih®n data obtained in controlled testing enviromsieof limited duration. Followir
regulatory approval, these products will be useer danger periods of time with many patients. Kwsafety issues arise, we may be requir
change the conditions of use for a product. Formpta, we may be required to provide additional aga on a producs’ label or narrow i
approved use, either of which could reduce the yctisl market acceptance. If serious safety issuesami¢hof our products arise, sales of
product could be halted by us or by regulatory auities. Safety issues affecting suppliers’ or cetitprs’ products also may reduce the ma
acceptance of our products.

In addition, in the ordinary course of business,magy be the subject of product liability claims dadsuits alleging that our products or
products of other companies that we promote, or beancorporated in our products, have resultecbaid result in an unsafe condition fo
injury to patients. Product liability claims andmsuits and safety alerts or product recalls, rdgasdof their ultimate outcome, may ha\
material adverse effect on our business, reputatioh financial condition, as well as on our abilityattract and retain customers. Pro
liability losses are self-insured.
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The international nature of our business subjects to additional business risks that may cause oevenue and profitability to decline.

Since we intend to market our products internatignaur business will be subject to risks assaatvith doing business internationally.
risks associated with any such operations outsidéJnited States include:

changes in foreign medical reimbursement policies@ograms

multiple foreign regulatory requirements that ambjsct to change and that could restrict our abtlit manufacture, market, and :
our products

differing local product preferences and productirements

trade protection measures and import or exporéizey requirement:

difficulty in establishing, staffing, and managifugeign operations

differing labor regulations

potentially negative consequences from changesimt@rpretations of tax law:
political and economic instability

inflation, recession and fluctuations in foreignremcy exchange and interest rates; i

compulsory licensing or diminished protection dgitectual property

These risks may, individually or in the aggregageye a material adverse effect on our revenuepaiiability.

Other factors can have a material adverse effectaur future profitability and financial condition.

Many other factors can affect our profitability afirtancial condition, including:

Changes in or interpretations of laws and regutationcluding changes in accounting standards, itaxatequirements ai
environmental laws in domestic or foreign jurisitios.

Changes in the rate of inflation (including the tcosraw materials, commaodities, and supplieskrfi@st rates and the performanc
investments held by u

Changes in the creditworthiness of counterpartiasttansact business with or provide servicestoruo our distributors

Changes in business, economic, and political cammdit including: war, political instability, teriist attacks in the U.S. and other p
of the world, the threat of future terrorist adiyvin the U.S. and other parts of the world an@ted military action; natural disaste
the cost and availability of insurance due to ahthe foregoing events; labor disputes, strikesywsilowns, or other forms of labor
union activity; and, pressure from tr-party interest group:

Changes in our business units and investments fzenages in the relative and absolute contributiorawh to earnings and cash f
resulting from evolving business strategies, chamgiroduct mix, changes in tax rates both in th®. @nd abroad and opportuni
existing now or in the future

Changes in the buying patterns of a major distohutetailer, or wholesale customer resulting fromyer purchasing decisiol
pricing, seasonality, or other factors, or othetpems with licensors, suppliers, distributors, ndiness partner
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° Difficulties related to our information technologystems, any of which could adversely affect bussneperations, including a
significant breakdown, invasion, destruction, defruption of these systen

° Changes in credit markets impacting our abilitplbtain financing for our business operatic
° Legal difficulties, any of which could preclude @elay commercialization of products or adversefgctfprofitability, including claim
asserting statutory or regulatory violations, adeelitigation decisions, and issues regarding c@npé with any governmen

consent decre!

Risks Related to Our Capital Structure

Our stockholders may experience significant dilutimm the exercise of warrants to purchase shafrear Common Stock .

The Company currently has outstanding warrantsutehase 8,457,500 shares of our Common Stock atiseeprices ranging from $0.10
$1.00 per share. Accordingly, if such warrantseatercised, in whole or in part, prior to their empion dates, you may experience subste
dilution upon exercise of these warrants. In additithe likelihood of such dilution may be accefedaif the price of our Common Sic
increases to a level greater than the exercise pfithese warrants.

Future Issuance of Our Common Stock Could Dilute @ant Stockholder or Adversely Affect the Market.

Future issuances of our common stock could be laesasubstantially below the price paid by the enirrholders of our common stock.
addition, common stock could be issued to fenduofffanted tender offers or hostile takeovers wittacther stockholder approval. Sale:
substantial amounts of our common stock in theipubhrket, or even just the prospect of such salasld depress the prevailing market p
of our common stock and our ability to raise equa#pital in the future.

The market for our common stock is limited .

Our common stock is traded on the OTC Bulletin Bodrrading activity in our stock has fluctuated atdtimes been limited. We can
guarantee that a consistently active trading mddeetur stock will continue, especially while wennain on the OTC Bulletin Board.

Shares eligible for future sale may adversely atfédee market price of our common stoc

From time to time, certain of our stockholders nii@yeligible to sell some or all of their sharesoaf common stock by means of ordir
brokerage transactions in the open market purdoaRtile 144, promulgated under the Securities suibject to certain limitations. In gene
pursuant to Rule 144, naffiliate stockholders may sell freely after six mtios subject only to the current public informati@guiremer
(which disappears after one year). Affiliates may after six months subject to the Rule 144 volumanner of sale, current public informai
and notice requirements. The eventual availabititysale of substantial amounts of our common staulter Rule 144 could adversely af
prevailing market prices for our securities andseayou to lose most, if not all, of your investmienbur business.
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We expect volatility in the price of our common skg which may subject us to securities litigatiomah thereby divert our resources whi
may materially affect our profitability and resultsf operations or force us to cease operations.

The market for our common stock may be charactrmesignificant price volatility when compareddeasoned issuers, and we expec!
our share price will be more volatile than a seadoissuer for the indefinite future. In the padaingiffs have often initiated securities cl
action litigation against a company following pelsoof volatility in the market price of its secig#. We may in the future be the targe
similar litigation. Securities litigation could ngls in substantial costs and liabilities, could efivmanagemers’ attention and resources,

could ultimately force us to cease operations wheg®u could lose your entire investment.

Because our common stock currently trades belo@08er share and is quoted on the OTCBB, our constaok is considered by the SEC(
be a “penny stock,” which adversely affects ouuilifity .

Our common stock does not currently qualify fotitig on any national securities exchange, and wead@nticipate that it will qualify for su
a listing in the shorterm future. If our common stock continues to betgd on the OTC Bulletin Board or is traded onRlirek Sheets or oth
over-theeounter markets, and if the trading price of oumomn stock remains less than $5.00 per share,@amon stock is consideres
“penny stock,” and trading in our common stockubject to the requirements of Rule 18gmder the Exchange Act. Under this rule, brc
or dealers who recommend Iqwiced securities to persons other than establishetbmers and accredited investors must satiggiajpsale
practice requirements. The broker or dealer mustenan individualized written suitability determiiwat for the purchaser and receive
purchasers written consent prior to the transaction. SEQlagpns also require additional disclosure in ation with any trades involving
penny stock, including the delivery, prior to argnpy stock transaction, of a disclosure schedupdaexng the penny stock market anc
associated risks. These requirements could sevigmgtythe liquidity of such securities in the sexctary market because few brokers or de
are likely to undertake these compliance activitiesaddition to the applicability of the penny ataules, another risk associated with tradir
penny stocks may be large price fluctuations.

Our amended charter contains provisions that msgodirage an unaffiliated party to take us over .

Without further stockholder action, our Board ofr@itors could authorize the issuance of additiehalres of our common stock as we
preferred stock with special voting rights by classvith more than one vote per share, to a “whitight” in order to deter a potential buy
This might have the effect of preventing or disemiing an attempt by a party unable to obtain tipral of our Board of Directors to te
over or otherwise gain control of us.

Terms of subsequent financings may adversely impamir investment

We may have to raise equity, debt or preferredkstioancing in the future. Your rights and the \alof your investment in our Common Shi
could be reduced. For example, if we issue secdedd securities, the holders of the debt would teetim against our assets that woul
prior to the rights of stockholders until the débpaid. Interest on these debt securities woutdeimse costs and negatively impact oper
results.

Preferred stock could be issued in series from tioméme with such designations, rights, prefersnemd limitations as needed to raise ca
The terms of preferred stock could be more advawag to those investors than to the holders of @ummon Shares. Our articles
incorporation do not provide stockholders the @nagtive right to buy shares from the company. Assailt, you will not have the automs
ability to avoid dilution in your percentage owrt@psof the company.

Control of our stock is now held by the former Caoenics shareholders.

The prior shareholders of CardioGenics (which ideki our current named directors and officers) ogirectly or indirectly, a significa
percentage of our outstanding common si@ele beneficial ownership table in Item 12¥hile their percentage would decline over timearic
to the extent, new shares of our common stock sseei, you should expect these persons to exetinemyg influence over all matte
requiring shareholder approval, including the étecof directors. You may have little to no praaticontrol over such matters.
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It is not likely that we will pay dividends on trammon stock or any other class of stc

We intend to retain any future earnings for therapen and expansion of our business. We do natipate paying cash dividends on
common stock, or any other class of stock, in tredeeable future. Stockholders should look sdteppreciation in the market price of
Common Shares to obtain a return on investment.

Our stockholders ownership of our common stock bjn doubt due to possible naked short sellingusfcommon stock .

We believe, but cannot confirm, that speculatorg heve engaged in a practice commonly known ask€eth short’sale of our common stoc
which means that certain brokers may be permittiagy short selling customers to sell shares ofammmon stock that their customers da
own and may have failed to borrow and thereforévdethe shares sold to the purchaser of the shdéfeshave from time to time been inclu
by NASDAQ on the Regulation SHO Threshold Secutiist, which is indicative of a significant amount waked shorting in the sto«
Because naked shorting may result in an artifidegdression of our stock price, our stockholderdcctmse all or part of their investment in
common stock. As a result of this naked shortmsgllthere may be a substantial number of purchageosbelieve they are our stockhold
but who in fact would not be stockholders sincdartbeokers may never have received any shares otommon stock for their account.
addition, investors who believe they are our stotlérs may not have received a stock dividend tehvthey are entitled or may have b
deprived of the right to vote some or all of thehares.

We are classified as an “emerging growth companys well as a “smaller reporting companydnd we cannot be certain if the reduc
disclosure requirements applicable to emerging gtbwcompanies and smaller reporting companies willake our common stock le
attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth compangs defined in the JOBS Act, and we may take adganth certain exemptions from various repot
requirements that are applicable to other publioganies, including, but not limited to, not beirgyuired to comply with the auditor attesta
requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbabakey Act, reduced disclosure obligations regardirgcutive compensation in our periodic ref
and proxy statements, and exemptions from the reauints of holding a nonbinding advisory vote oacexive compensation and sharehc
approval of any golden parachute payments not pusly approved. We cannot predict if investors ¥l our common stock less attract
because we may rely on these exemptions. If somestars find our common stock less attractive essalt, there may be a less active tra
market for our common stock and our stock price tmaynore volatile.

Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an “emmgrgrowth company’tan take advantage of the extended transition ¢ghgriovided il
Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for comiply with new or revised accounting standards. lheptwords, an émerging growt
company” can delay the adoption of certain accogngtandards until those standards would otherapgdy to private companies.

We could remain an “emerging growth compafy’ up to five years, or until the earliest of ffile last day of the first fiscal year in which
annual gross revenues exceed $1 billion, (ii) thee dhat we become a “large accelerated filer’effndd in Rule 122 under the Exchan
Act, which would occur if the market value of ownemon stock that is held by natffiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last hass day (
our most recently completed second fiscal quadte(iji) the date on which we have issued more tharillion in noneonvertible debt durir
the preceding three-year period.
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Notwithstanding the above, we are also currentgmaller reporting company. In the event that we sdile considered a smaller report
company, at such time we ceased being an emergowtly company, the disclosure we will be requiredotovide in our SEC filings w
increase, but will still be less than it would lhevie were not considered either an emerging graethpany or a smaller reporting comps
Specifically, similar to other emerging growth caanes, a smaller reporting companies are abledaige simplified executive compensat
disclosures in their filings; are exempt from thevisions of Section 404(b) of the Sarbaf®dey Act requiring that independent registe
public accounting firms provide an attestation remm the effectiveness of internal control overaficial reporting; and have certain o
decreased disclosure obligations in their SECd#irDecreased disclosures in our SEC filings dumitcstatus as an emerging growth com|
or a smaller reporting company may make it hardeirfvestors to analyze our results of operationsfanancial prospects.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not Applicable.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our executive and administrative headquarters aneswtly located at 6295 Northam Drive, Units 7a8d 9 Mississauga, Ontario L4V 1
Canada. We rent this space at a cost of US$ 4§&80¢ear.

The servers for our websites are housed at sedacattons as described above. Séem 1.—Business—Website Technical Informationé
believe that our facilities are adequate for ourent needs and that, if our lease is not renewedoonmercially reasonable terms, we wil
able to locate suitable new office space and olatanitable replacement for our executive and aidtnative headquarters.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
On April 22, 2009, CardioGenics was served withtadesnent of claim in the Province of Ontario, Camafilom a prior contractor claimi
compensation for wrongful dismissal and ancillaguses of action including payment of monies inizadibn of his investment
CardioGenics, with an aggregate claim of $514,@08 { Lawsuit”). On January 3, 2014 the Company settled the Lai@uén amount equ
to $10,000 plus 700,000 common shares. At Octolier2813 the Company accrued a “Settlement of Lavsxpense in the amount
$199,000.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None
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PART Il

ITEM. 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT" S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF SECURITIES

For the period covered below, our common stock tnaded on the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbBNE1. The following table reflec
the reported quarterly high and low sales pricesusfcommon stock from October 31, 2013 througho®et 31, 2014. Such prices are intel
dealer quotations without retail mark-ups, mark-dewsr commissions, and may not represent actusdrdions

Fiscal Year Ending October 31, 201

Quarter Ended High $ Low $

October 31, 201 0.2C 0.0¢
July 31, 201+ 0.2C 0.1¢
April 30, 2014 0.24 0.1:
January 31, 201 0.3t 0.17
Fiscal Year Ending October 31, 201

Quarter Ended High $ Low $

October 31, 201 0.2¢ 0.1¢
July 31, 201: 0.4C 0.1¢
April 30, 2013 0.3C 0.1¢€
January 31, 201 0.24 0.1z

On February 9, 2015, the closing bid price for oommon stock was $0.02. Pursuant to an amendmenirtArticles of Incorporation filed
Nevada on January 17, 2013 our Class B common staskdeauthorized and is no longer available frdace

As of February 9, 2015, there were 58,517,870 shafeour common stock outstanding. There was algstanding 1 share of Serie
Preferred Voting Stock, par value $0.0001, repriaisgnl3 Exchangeable Shares, which are exchangeatne?24,176,927 shares of 1
common stock.

As of February 9, 2015, there were 1,878 stockheldé record of our common stock. This number doasinclude stockholders for whe
shares were held in “nominee” or “street” name. @ansfer agent is Transfer Online. The transfamélg address is 512 SE Salmon St
Portland, OR 97214-3444.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid any cash dividends on our constamk and anticipate that, for the foreseeablerfytno cash dividends will be paid
our common stock.

Equity Compensation Plans Information

See the information provided under “ltem 12.—Sagu@wnership of Certain Beneficial Owners and RelaBtockholder MattersEequity
Compensation Plan Information.”
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

(a) On September 15, 2014, a shareholder conv8ited,452.05 under his debenture with the Comg&t©0,000 in principal and $15,452
in accrued interesihto Common Stock of the Company at a conversigcepsf $0.11 per share. The conversion resultgtiérissuance to t
shareholder of 1,049,565 shares of Common Stockrendancellation of the debenture. The issuanc@oofimon Stock was made pursual
the exemption from the registration requirementthefSecurities Act, provided by Section 4(2) & Securities Act.

(b) On September 17, 2014, a shareholder convég6@,797.87 under his debenture with the Compab9QqP00in principal and $50,797.
in accrued interesthto Common Stock of the Company at a conversigrepsf $0.11 per share. The conversion resultgtiérissuance to t
shareholder of 5,007,253 shares of Common Stocktandancellation of the debenture. The issuandg@ooimon Stock was made pursuat
the exemption from the registration requirementthefSecurities Act, provided by Section 4(2) & Securities Act.

Purchases of Equity Securities

There were no repurchases made for any class ies s#rsecurities in a month within the fourth geaiof the fiscal year ended October
2014.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
We are a smaller reporting company as defined g R2b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not requioggarovide information under this item.
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLA N OF OPERATION

This annual report contains forwaldeking statements relating to future events or fuiure financial performance. In some cases yon
identify forward-looking statements by terminologlych as “may,” “will,” “should,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue,”
“strategy,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “ex pects,” “intends” or the negative of these terms or other comparaiiminology. Thes
statements are only predictions and involve knowth @anknown risks, uncertainties and other factohsciv may cause our or our industsy’
actual results, levels of activity or performanoebe materially different from any future resulesels of activity or performance expresse
implied by these forward-looking statements.

Although we believe that the expectations refleoiatie forwarclooking statements are reasonable, we cannot guaeafuture results, leve
of activity or performance. You should not plackaree on these statements, which speak only dkeotiate that they were made. Tt
cautionary statements should be considered witharitten or oral forwardlooking statements that we may issue in the futbixeept a
required by applicable law, including the secustiaws of the United States, we do not intend ttatgany of the forwardleoking statemen
to conform these statements to actual resultst &atents or circumstances or to reflect the occoceeof unanticipated events.

In this annual report unless otherwise specifiell,dallar amounts are expressed in United StateBad® and all references t¢ commol
shares” refer to the common shares of our capitatk.

The managemenst’discussion and analysis of our financial conditand results of operations are based upon oumitna statements, whi
have been prepared in accordance with accountitigcpples generally accepted in the United StateArokrica (“GAAP”).

The financial statements contained herein inclinderesults CardioGenics, Inc. and its subsidigfi€ardioGenics, Inc.”Jand CardioGenic
Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“CardioGentitsldings, Inc.”) (he latter from July 31, 2009, date of acquisitiaich are collectivel
referred to as the “Company” or “ CardioGenics”.

CardioGenics develops technology and products tiagyéhe immunoassay segment of theVitro Diagnostictesting market. CardioGen
has developed the QL Care Analyzer, a proprietampntgf-care immunanalyzer, which will run a number of diagnostictsesinde
development by CardioGenics, the first of whichlWwi a series of cardiovascular diagnostic testspért of its core proprietary technolc
CardioGenics has also developed a proprietary rdethiosilver coating paramagnetic microspheresufa@amental platform component
immunoassay equipment), which improve instrumensisieity to light. CardioGenicsprincipal offices are located in Mississauga, Got
Canada.

With the acquisition of CardioGenics, the Compariysiness is now refocused on developing technedogind products for the point-cdire
In Vitro Diagnostics market.

On January 17, 2013 the Company’s Board of Dirscagproved an increase in the authorized commaeshba 150,000,000.
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended October3 2014 and October 31, 2013
The following table sets forth the Company’s resolt operations for the years ended October 314 201 October 31, 2013:

Years Ended October 3

2014 2013

Revenue $ = 8 -
Operating Expenses:;

Depreciation and amortization of property and emdpt 10,80: 14,48

Amortization of patent application cos 10,30( 7,28¢

General and administrati\ 451,46 1,886,66!

Cost of settlement of lawst -- 199,00(

Research and product development, net of investtagrredits 500,93! 419,36:
Total operating expense:! 973,50t 2,526,80:
Operating loss (973,500 (2,526,80)
Other Expenses:

Interest expense and bank charges | 1,841,37. 300,11¢

Loss (Gain) on change in value of derivative lidpi (142,059 116,66:

Loss (Gain) on foreign exchange transactions 7,051 (6,647
Total other expense: 1,706,37! 410,13!
Net Loss $ (2,679,87) $ (2,936,93)

Revenues
The Company realized no revenues in the currenpaeckding years.
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Operating expenses
General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piiynaficompensation to officers, occupancy costsfgssional fees, listing costs and o
office expenses. The change in general and admatiist expenses is attributable primarily to a dase in consulting fees.

Research and product development costs, net of instenent tax credits

Research and development expenses consist printdridalaries and wages paid to officers and emgsyengaged in those activities
supplies consumed therefor. The increase in relseard development expenses is attributable prignarih reversal of approximately $80,!
for the Canadian refundable tax credit acquiretkoeived (which is netted against those expenegsjor years.

Cost of settlement of lawsuit

On January 3, 2014, the Company and a former eraplagreed to a settlement of all claims which eaigloyee had against the Compan
a result, the consolidated statement of operafionthe year ended October 31, 2013 reflects agehaf $199,000 for the cost of settlemer
the lawsuit.

Other expenses
Loss (Gain) on foreign exchange transactions

The Company conducts the majority of its transaction Canadian dollars. The foreign exchange (gasg (2014-$7,051, 201%6,647)
results from currency movements on transactiortededuring the year.

Interest Expense
Interest expense was higher in 2014 than 2013 keaafuthe notes and debentures payable.

The majority of the debentures were issued in tfivel tquarter of 2013 so that the interest and distdn the 2014 period was substanti
higher than that in 2013. Modification of debentuterms to induce the conversion of debentures r@solted in incremental expense:
$745,121.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

For the year ended October 31, 2014, the Compacyrried a net loss of approximately $2,680,000 (26%,937,000) and a cash fli
deficiency from operating activities of approximgt$597,000 (2013-$19,000). The Company has not yet established gpoiog source «
revenues sufficient to cover our operating costs alow us to continue as a going concern. The Gomrhas funded its activities to d
almost exclusively from debt and equity financinfhese matters raise substantial doubt about tmep@ny’s ability to continue as a goi
concern and our independent auditors included ptapatory paragraph to emphasize such doubt in tegort on the audit of our consolida
financial statements.

The Company will continue to require substantialdsi to continue research and development, inclugliaglinical studies and clinical trials
our products, and to commence sales and markeffiodse The Company plans include financing activities such as peavalacements of i
common stock and issuances of convertible debtumgnts. The Company is also actively pursuing $tiqucollaboration activities includil
product licensing and specific project financing.

The Company believes that it will be successfudhitaining the necessary financing to fund its ofj@na, meet revenue projections and ma
costs; however, there are no assurances that ddifoaal funding will be achieved and that the Qmmy will succeed in its future operations.
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Our current annual cash requirement is approxim&®@00,000. The cash balance at year end was $7@&@éaning that we had sufficient ¢
reserves to cover less than 1 month’s operati@ssinaing no revenue over the period.

During the year, the following cash investmentsevaade in the Company:

1.

a shareholder who is also an officer advanced $21t0 the Company in the form of a note carryin@grest at 10% with a term
three years

a shareholder advanced $100,000 to the Compaigifotm of a note carrying interest at 10% withspecific terms of repaymer

a shareholder purchased 200,000 common shareSA¢aD.

JMJ Financial advanced $110,000 to the Compankherfdrm of notes bearing interest at 5% with a tefrone year. The notes .
convertible at any time to common shares at a @igel to 60% of the lowest trading price in therty five days prior to conversi
date; and

LG Capital LLP and Adar Bays LLP each advanced 332 to the Company in the form of a note bearingrast at 8% with a term
one year. The note is convertible at any time tmmmon shares at a price equal to 58% of the lowadirtg price in the ten days pt
to conversion date

Summary of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimags

The discussion and analysis of the Compsarfinancial condition and results of its operaticare based upon its consolidated finar
statements, which have been prepared in accordgititeccounting principles generally accepted i thnited States of America for financ
statements filed with the SEC.

(@)

(b)

()

Convertible Debentures

In accordance with guidance in accounting for cotilve securities with beneficial conversion feasiior contingently adjustal
conversion ratios, the Company recognized an endzetddneficial conversion feature present in thevedible debentures. T
Company allocated a portion of the proceeds equahé intrinsic value of that feature to debt disup The debt discou
attributed to the beneficial conversion featurarsortized over the convertible debentarelaturity period as interest expe
using the effective yield method.

In addition, the Company recognized the valuelatteble to the warrants to additional paideapital and a discount against
convertible debentures. The Company valued theantsrusing the Blackcholes pricing model. The debt discount attribut
the value of the warrants issued is amortized dker convertible debentuse’'maturity period as interest expense using
effective yield method.

Research and Development Cos

Expenditures for research and development are erpenas incurred and include, among other costsethelated to tt
production of prototype products, including payrodists. Amounts expected to be received from genents under Scientil
Research Tax Credit arrangements are offset againsgnt expenses. The Company recognizes reveaneréstricted grants
the period in which the Company has for refundatabe credits incurred the expenditures in compliamgth the specifi
restrictions.

Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the liability method of acctimg for income taxes as set forth in the authtvitaguidance. Under tl
liability method, deferred taxes are determineceamn the temporary differences between the firdustatement and tax basis
assets and liabilities using tax rates expectedetin effect during the years in which the basffedénces reverse. A valuati
allowance is recorded when it is more likely that that some of the deferred tax assets will notdadized. As there is |
certainty that the Company will generate taxableoine in the foreseeable future to utilize tax lesaecumulated to date,
provision for ultimate tax reduction has been madiese consolidated financial statements.

On November 1, 2007, the Company adopted the go@@sued for accounting for uncertainty in incamaees which provide
detailed guidance for the financial statement redam, measurement and disclosure of uncertainptsitions recognized in
enterprise’s financial statements. Income tax pmwtmust meet a more-likely-thamn recognition threshold at the effective
to be recognized upon the adoption of the guidamckin subsequent periods. The Company recognatesitial accrued intere
and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefitsin operations as income tax expense. Upon &olopthere were r
adjustments required.
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(d) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company follows the authoritative guidance stmckbased compensation which requires that new, maddied unveste
sharebased payment transactions with employees, sudyats of stock options and restricted stock, lmgrized in th
financial statements based on their fair valudatgrant date and recognized as compensation exp&gs their vesting periot
The Company has also considered the related guedahthe Securities and Exchange Commission (“SETHe Compan
estimates the fair value of stock options and shmsied as compensation to employees and diretayéthe date of grant us
the BlackScholes pricing model and restricted stock basethemer share value. The Company also followsgthidance fc
equity instruments that are issued to other thapl@yees for acquiring, or in conjunction with sefji goods or services for eqt
instruments issued to consultants which providedagce on transactions in which (1) the fair vadfiehe equity instruments
more reliably measurable than the fair value ofdbeds or services received and (2) the countgrpadeives shares of sto
stock options, or other equity instruments in satiént of the entire transaction or, if the transacts part cash and part eqt
instruments, in settlement of the portion of thengaction for which the equity instruments consgitine consideration. Optic
issued with a nominal exercise price in exchangeséovices rendered were measured at the fair \afltige underlying servic
rendered on the date of grant. The expense wasdestdo the statement of operations with a cormedipg increase in she
capital with no additional increase in the numbfestares as they were legally not yet exercised.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Revenue From Contracts With Customers

In May 2014, the FASB issued an update to ASC &#venue from Contracts with Customers. This upttaeSC 606 provide
a fivestep process to determine when and how revengeagnized. The core principle of the guidance @ éhCompany shot
recognize revenue upon transfer of promised goodeiwvices to customers in an amount that refldesexpected considerat
to be received in exchange for those goods andcesrvThis update to ASC 606 will also result ifamced disclosures ab
revenue, providing guidance for transactions thatewnot previously addressed comprehensively, amptaving guidance f
multiple-element arrangements. This update to ASC 606 éctfe for the Company beginning in fiscal 2017eT®ompany |
currently evaluating the impact of this update tsrconsolidated financial statements.

Development Stage Entities: Elimination of CertainFinancial Reporting Requirements

On June 10, 2014, FASB issued Accounting Standdptkate No. 20140, Development Stage Entities: Elimination of @m
Financial Reporting Requirements. The update rematle definition of a development stage entity fretSB ASC 915 ar
eliminates the requirement for development stagiéiesito present inception-tbate information on the statements of operat
cash flows and stockholders’ equity. The Compangaaly adopted this standard for the period covbyetie report herein.

Other pronouncements issued by the FASB or othtmoatative accounting standards group with futefiective dates are eitf
not applicable or not significant to the consol&hfinancial statements of the Company.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE AB  OUT MARKET RISK
We are a smaller reporting company as defined g R2b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not requiogarovide information under this item.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements and suppleanedata required in this item are set forth beigig on Page RB-of this Annual Report
Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

2014
None

2013
None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management is responsible for establishingraaititaining adequate disclosure controls and pragsdas defined in Rule 13&{e) an
15(d)-15(e) of the Exchange Act. Our management conduate@valuation of the effectiveness of disclosuwetiols and procedures ¢
concluded that our disclosure controls and procesiwrere not effective as of October 31, 2014 piigndue to material weaknesses in inte
controls over financial reporting (see below).
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and taiaing adequate internal control over financigarting (as defined in Rules 13&(f) anc
15d15(f) under the Exchange Act) to provide reasonasieurance regarding the reliability of our finahaieporting and preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with U.S. generally accepted accounting jplies. A control system, no matter h
well designed and operated, can provide only remtsenassurance of achieving the desired controtatibps. Because of the inhel
limitations in all control systems, internal congrover financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. The design and operati
a control system must also reflect that there @seurce constraints and management is necessgilyred to apply its judgment in evaluai
the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls.
Our management concluded that as at October 34, @linternal control over financial reporting wast effective based on the framewor
Internal Controlntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of nSpong Organization of the Treadway Commission 1892
Management has identified the following materiabWgesses in our internal control over financiabrépg:

e lack of documented policies and procedu

e lack of resources to account for complex and urusamsactions

e there is no effective separation of duties, whittiiides monitoring controls, between the membemarfagement; ar

e lack of effective review of the consolidated finestatements

Management is currently evaluating what steps eataken in order to address these material weaksess
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This Annual Report on Form 1K-does not include an attestation report of oursteged public accounting firm regarding internahtols ove
financial reporting. Managemeatteport was not subject to attestation by oursteged public accounting firm pursuant to the ruiethe SE(
that permit us to provide only a management’s repor

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no significant changes (including cdivecactions with regard to significant deficiersier material weaknesses) in our inte
controls over financial reporting that occurredidgrthe quarter ended October 31, 2014, that haatennally affected, or are reasonably lik
to materially affect, our internal control overdincial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

There are no items that required disclosure inranF&K during the fourth quarter of the year codeby this Form 1K that were not report:
by the Company.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company is not a party to any off balance sagangements.
Seasonality

The Company does not believe that its businessaienmally affected by seasonal trends or inflati®m an ongoing basis, the Company
attempt to minimize any effect of inflation on @perating results by controlling operating costs.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE
The following table sets forth the name, age ansitjpm of each of the members of our board of dioes; executive officers, and cert
significant employees as of the fiscal year enddwjober 31, 2014. All directors are elected to hafiice until the next annual meeting
stockholders following election and until their sassors are duly elected and qualified. Executffieens are appointed by the Board
Directors and serve at the discretion of the Board.

Board of Directors and Executive Officers

Name Age Position

Yahia Gawac 56 Director & Chief Executive Office
J Neil Tabatznil 64 Director/Acting Chairmal

Linda J. Sterling 53 Director & Secretan

James A. Esse 66 Chief Financial Office

Yahia Gawad, MB, Ch.B., MD, MSc. (Director and CliiExecutive Officer of CardioGenics since 199 Dr. Gawad is a Physician/Scien
with primary training in Cardiology, Biochemistryn@ Immunology. He received his medical educatiod postgraduate training at t
University of Alexandria and the University of Toto. Dr. Gawads academic and commercial experience and expartbale many years
designing and managing cardiovascular diseaseratsand product development.

Dr. Gawad was a co-founder of a division of Nano@dGEN) (formerly Syn X and Skye Pharmatech) wheeeheld the position of Vice-
President, Medical Affairs. Prior to that, he wasebtor of Clinical Research and Development atcBpéDiagnostics Inc. (now Nanogen).

For the past 20 years, he has been working exigson cardiac diagnostic test products. He haparesl, submitted and obtained F
regulatory approvals for several cardiac test pctsicurrently being marketed (including Cardiacti&aTroponin I®, Myoglobin®anc
Myoglobin/CK-MB®, registered trademarks of Spectral Diagnostics In€hrough his expertise and contributions to arerimtionz
committee, a new cardiac test, Troponin I, is nowoiutine clinical use.

In addition, Dr. Gawad has researched, developddahlished several other tests. Dr. Gawad hasvextseveral awards and scholarships
was a member of both the Clinical Committee ofAlneerican Heart Association and the POC divisiothef American Association for Clinic
Chemistry. He has served as a reviewer for theoedlitboard of the American Journal of Cardiologp992003). Dr. Gawad publish
extensively and presented his research and clificdihgs at national and international symposia.

J. Neil Tabatznik (Director of CardioGenics sinc®@5, Acting Chairman of CardioGenics since 200r. Tabatznik is the Chairman, ClI
of Arrow Pharmaceuticals Inc. Arrow Pharmaceutigalpart of a global generic drug company estabtisin 2000, and has seen rapid grc
from $0 to $700 million in 8 years. The Arrow Grohas sales operations in 5 continents and emplaye than 1000 people worldwide. P
to Arrow Pharmaceuticals, Mr. Tabatznik was thei@han, CEO of Genpharm Inc. (192800), which was acquired by MerckKGaA in 1
and is now a part of Mylan Inc. the world’s thiardest generic and specialty pharmaceutical compgdeywas a Barrister-dtaw in Londot
and was called to the Bar of England and Wales9n81 He has extensive expertise in pharmaceutieadufacturing and negotiations
agreements with multinational companies.

Linda J. Sterling (Corporate Secretary of CardioGesn since 2003, Director of CardioGenics since 2. Ms. Sterling has been in the le
community in the capacity as a Law Clerk with b&tikeman Elliott LLP and Davies Ward Phillips & \éberg LLP since 1999. S
developed expertise with both public and privatengany legal compliance and has been responsibleCémdioGenics’compliance an
maintenance of corporate governance since 2001lisSherently in the process of being licensed asgal Executive (F.Inst.L.C.O.), with 1
Institute of Law Clerks of Ontario, of which sheaisnember. She has held the position of CEO amdtdir of Sterling Studios since 1989.
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James A. Essex, CA, MBA (Chief Financial Officer afardioGenics since 2001ir. Essex has been with CardioGenics since 199!
founded J. Hunter & Associates Inc. in 1990, aatevfinancial consulting firm. Previously, he wascowner, President and COO of Ca
Investigations, Inc., a private company (from 1983.998), a Vice President of Confederation Tra®80) and a Vice President of Chem
Bank of Canada (now JP Morgan Chase Bank of Carieata)1977 through 1987.

Family Relationships
There are no family relationships among the dinscémd executive officers.
Involvement in Legal Proceedings

We know of no pending proceedings to which anyalime member of senior management, or affiliateiieer a party adverse to us, or
subsidiaries, or has a material interest adversis tor our subsidiaries.

None of our executive officers or directors hayebéien involved in any bankruptcy proceedings withie last five years, (ii) been convicte:
or has pending any criminal proceedings, (iii) beahject to any order, judgment or decree enjoirgring, suspending or otherwise limit
involvement in any type of business, securitiebanking activity or (iv) been found to have viokhny federal, state or provincial securitie
commodities law and such finding has not been sadkrsuspended or vacated.

Board Committees

Our Board of Directors does not have standing andininating or compensation committees. Instdaa functions that might be delegate
such committees are carried out by our entire Bo&irectors, to the extent required. Our Boardirectors anticipates that it will evalu
from time-to-time the appropriateness of forming @n more of such committees.

Nomination of Director:

There have been no material changes to the proggthyrwhich our security holders may recommend negs to our Board of Directors.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Coanptie

Under the securities laws of the United States,dingctors, executive officers and any person mgidhore than 10% of our common stock
required to file initial forms of ownership of oaommon stock and reports of changes in that owieetithe SEC. Specific due dates for ti

forms have been established, and we are requirgdddtose in this report any failure to file by skeedates.

Based solely on our review of the copies of suaimforeceived by it with respect to fiscal year 20ddwritten representations from ceri
reporting persons, to the best of our knowleddeaepbrts were filed on a timely basis.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics (ouZdde of Ethics”) that applies to our Chief Executive Officer and &Htrinancial Officer. We wi
provide to any person without charge, upon requesgpy of our Code of Ethics by sending such regteethe attention: Yahia Gawad, Cl
Executive Officer, CardioGenics Holdings Inc., 6286rtham Drive, Unit 8, Mississauga, Ontario L4V &@WIrhe Company will prompt
disclose any amendments or waivers to our Coddto€g£on Form 8-K.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

As a “smaller reporting companyCardioGenics has elected to follow scaled disclwsequirements for smaller reporting companies
respect toPart Ill, Iltem 11 — Executive Compensatiddnder the scaled disclosure obligations, CardioGeié not required to provi
Compensation Discussion and Analysisd certain other tabular and narrative disclosusdating to executive compensation. No
CardioGenics required to quantify payments duééontamed executives upon termination of employm#ahagement believes that the sc
disclosure for the Company’s executive compensatiaity and practices is appropriate because C@meliics is small for a publicliradec
company, has only three named executives and halatively simple compensation policy and structivat has not changed in the last fi
year.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table provides information concerniogmpensation of CardioGenics’ named executivemdioGenicslast two complete
fiscal years ending October 31, 2013 and 2014.

Non-Qualified
Non-Equity
Incentive Plan Deferred
Compensatior All Other

Name & Stock Option  Compensatior Compensatior
Principal Salary Bonus Awards Awards Earnings Total
Position Year $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Dr. Yahia Gawad, @
Chief Executive 2014 137,13 — — — — — — 137,13
Officer 2013 147,49/ — — — — — — 147,49
James A. Essex, @
Chief Financial 2014 32,91 — — — — — — 32,91
Officer 2013 35,171 — — — — — — 3517:
()
Linda J. Sterling, 2014 0 — — — — — — 0
Secretan 2013 25,07¢D) B — — — — —  25,07¢

(1) Compensation is stated in the table in U.S. doll@csthe extent any cash compensation was paidamadian dollars, it has be
converted into U.S. dollars based on the averagadan/U.S. dollar exchange rate for the years &@ttober 31, 2014 and Octo
31, 2013. Compensation for the CEO and {8EO in the amounts of $114,280 and $27,427 includéde above has not been pai
cash but rather has been accrued on the books @dmpany
Employment Agreements
We currently do not have written employment agresmwith any of our current officers or executivergpnnel.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at October 31, 2014 Fisdayear End

Number of Number of
Securities Securities Option
underlying underlying exercise or
unexercised unexercised base price per
options options share Option
Name exercisable unexercisable ($/Share) Expiration Date

None
Director Compensation
Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation
In fiscal 2014 our policy for compensation of nangdoyee directors was as follows:
1. Non-employee directors do not receive an annual cash teainer

2. At the discretion of the full Board of Direcsp nonemployee directors may receive shares ofCtmmpanys common stock. Tl
number and terms of such shares is within the eliger of the full Board of Director:

3. Directors who are officers or employees of CardiniGe do not receive separate consideration for theivice on the Board

Directors.
Fiscal Year 2013 Director Compensation Table
Stock Award Stock Award
As Director (Other) Total (M
Name $ $ $
J. Neil Tabatznil 0 0 0]

(1) As of October 31, 2014, the aggregate number ofeshanderlying stock awards granted to each-employee director was
follows: Mr. Tabatznik (561,648

Indemnification of Officers and Directors

Our amended and restated Articles of Incorporapimvide that we shall indemnify our officers, dit@s, employees and agents to the
extent permitted by Nevada law. Our Bylaws inclydevisions to indemnify our officers and directgasid other persons] against expel
(including judgments, fines and amounts paid fétlesment) incurred in connection with actions oog@edings brought against them by re,
of their serving or having served as officers, dioes or in other capacities. We do not, howewedemnify them in actions in which it
determined that they have not acted in good faithawe acted unlawfully or not in our best interésthe case of an action brought by or ir
right of us, we shall indemnify them only to theemt of expenses actually and reasonably incuryetthdém in connection with the defenst
settlement of these actions and we shall not indgntieem in connection with any matter as to whibby have been found to be liable to
unless the deciding court determines that, nottdatiding such liability, that person is fairly el to indemnity in light of all the releve
circumstances.
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We do not currently maintain director’s and offisdrability insurance but we may do so in the figtu

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisingpder the Securities Act may be permitted to oteaiors and officers pursuant to the foreg
provisions, or otherwise, we have been advisedithtite opinion of the SEC such indemnificatioragainst public policy as expressed in
Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth certain informatiaith respect to the beneficial ownership of our @oom Stock and Series 1 Preferred S
by: (i) each director, (ii) each of the executifaers of the Company, (iii) all current directcaiad executive officers as a group, and (iv)
stockholder known to the Company to be the beraf@ivner of more than 5% of the outstanding shaf€mmon Stock or Series 1 Prefe
Stock.

Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes totétide, all information set forth in the table isais=ebruary 9, 2015, and the address for
director and executive officer of the Company is: €ardioGenics Holdings Inc., 6295 Northam DriMdajt 8, Mississauga, Ontario L4V 1W
The addresses for the greater than 5% stockhadderset forth in the footnotes to this table.

Common Stock Series 1 Preferrec
Number of Number of
Shares Percentage Shares Percentage

Beneficially of Class Beneficially of Class

Owned ) Outstanding @ Owned @) Outstanding
Directors
J. Neil Tabatznit 3,934,393 4.8% — —
Named Executive Officers
Yahia Gawac 21,190,894 25.7% — —
Linda J. Sterling 1,801,450) 2.2% — —
James Esse 987,256 1.2% — —
All directors and named executive officers as a
group (4 persons 27,887,240 33.% — —
5% Stockholders
Weirfoulds LLP — — 1® 100%
Paul H. Saundel 7,047,569 8.6% — —

*Less than 1%

(1) The Company believes that each stockholder hasvstiteg and investment power with respect to theresi of Common Stock and Serit
Preferred Stock listed, except as otherwise ndted.number of shares beneficially owned by eactkbmder is determined under rule:
the Securities and Exchange Commission, and tloentation is not necessarily indicative of ownersioipany other purpose. Under th
rules, beneficial ownership includes (i) any sha®$o which the person has sole or shared votimgepor investment power and (ii) ¢
shares which the individual has the right to aaguiithin 60 days after February 9, 2015 throughetkercise of any stock option, warr:
conversion of preferred stock or other right, hudrsshares are deemed to be outstanding only éguulposes of computing the percen
ownership of the person that beneficially owns ssichres and not for any other person shown inahket The inclusion herein of &
shares of Common Stock or Series 1 Preferred Steekned beneficially owned does not constitute anisgion by such stockholder
beneficial ownership of those shares of CommonkstoSeries 1 Preferred Stoc
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(2) Based on 82,694,797 shares of Common Stock outataad of February 9, 2015, which includes 24,176,8hares of Common Stc
into which all outstanding Exchangeable Sharegacbangeable at any tinr

(3) J. Neil Tabatznik beneficially owns 3,934,395 skané Common Stock, including (i) 1,725,356 share€ommon Stock issuable ug
exchange of 1 Exchangeable Share and (ii) 2,20%0688s of Common Stoc

(4) Yahia Gawad beneficially owns 21,190,898 share€aihmon Stock, including (i) 17,478,553 shares omB8mn Stock issuable up
exchange of 1 Exchangeable Share and (ii) 3,71%bd&s of Common Stoc

(5) Linda J. Sterling beneficially owns 1,801,452 skané Common Stock, including (i) 1,301,032 share€ommon Stock issuable ug
exchange of 1 Exchangeable Share and (ii) 500 Aafs of Common Stoc

(6) James Essex beneficially owns 987,258 shares oh@onstock, including (i) 345,791 shares of CommtotSissuable upon exchange
1 Exchangeable Shares and (ii) 641,467 sharesmfi@m Stock

(7) See notes 2 through 6 abo

(8) Weirfoulds LLP, as trustee pursuant to the N@tirrust Agreement (the “TrusteeBeneficially owns the 1 outstanding share of Set
Preferred Stock, which provides the Trustee votiager with respect to all outstanding Exchange&blares in accordance with the te
of the Voting Trust Agreement. The voting rightgwiespect to any Exchangeable Share may be esdroisthe Trustee or, alternative
the holder of the Exchangeable Share may exeteésevoting rights directly. Under the Voting Trusgreement, the Trustee may exer
the voting rights of the Exchangeable Shares oiitly the instruction of the holder of the Exchandeabhare. As of February 9, 2015,
Exchangeable Shares are exchangeable at any tim24r176,927 shares of Common Stock. Weirfould®’sladdress is 160030 King
Street, The Exchange Tower, Toronto, Ontario, M3X.

(9) Paul H. Saunde’ address is 2700 North Ocean Drive, 9A, Singer tsl&thorida 33404
Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes the shares of omnrmon stock authorized for issuance under our egquitypensation plans as of October
2014.

Number of securities
remaining available fi
Number of securitie
Weighted average  future issuance under

to be issued upon exercise price of equity compensation
exercise of outstanding plans (excluding
outstanding option: options, warrants securities reflected in
warrants and right and rights column (a))
(@) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
Equity Compensation Plans not approved by sechalgers . . 30,00(M)
TOTAL _ _ 30,00(
(1) The maximum number of shares that may be stifjemutstanding awards under our 1999 Ldmgm Incentive Plan is 600,000 sht

of Common Stock. Because this limitation applies/do outstanding awards under the plan, as thetaoding options included
column (a) are either exercised, forfeited or exjpiursuant to their terms, the number of shareairengy available for future issuar
in column (c) shall be increased by the numbehafas subject to such option so exercised, fodeteexpired

Our 1999 LongFerm Incentive Plan provides our directors, offseemployees and consultants with the opportumityparticipate in ot
ownership. Our Board of Directors acts as the catemiunder the plan which administers the planresding participation, the awards offe
and any applicable conditions of exercise. In mgkinese determinations, our Board of Directors wéherally consider the participant’
position and record of service to us. The Boar®ioéctors may issue options, stock appreciatiohtsgrestricted stock, deferred stock, bc
stock, awards in lieu of cash obligations, dividengiivalents and other stock based awards, alesuty) terms and conditions to be set by
Board of Directors. The plan also contains standaaVisions dealing with matters such as adjustnoérthe number of shares subjec
options and covered by the plan in addition to asineent and termination of the plan.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

As a smaller reporting company, we are requiretbliow the scaled disclosure requirements with egsgo thisPart Ill, Item 13 —Certair
Relationships and Related Transactions, and Direbtdependenc:. The disclosures related to review of related getsansactions are t
applicable to smaller reporting companies.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

CardioGenics Holdings Inc. (the_* Compalfjyissued 3,370,749 shares of the Company’s comstock, par value $0.0001 (theCommot
Stock™) to certain officers and directors of the Compangamnection with their conversion of certain 10%n@ertible Debentures held
such officers and directors in the aggregate amofinCAD$406,069.86 (the “ Debentur&s This includes CAD$355,000 of aggrec
principal plus aggregate accrued interest, throBghtember 17, 2014, of CAD$51,069.86). Although Erebentures were denominatec
Canadian dollars, the outstanding principal andueat interest under the Debentures were convemtedJ.S. dollars, at a rate of CAD$1.0
USD$0.913, for purposes of computing the shardmtissued as a result of the conversions. The Deteswere held by J. Neil Tabatznik,
Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors, Dahia Gawad, the ComparsyCEO and a director of the Company, James Eske
Company’'s Chief Financial Officer and Linda J. Sitey, the Company Secretary and a director of the Company. The Dtebes wer
surrendered for conversion pursuant to the terntseoDebentures and letter agreements betweenaimp&hy and the Debenture holders d
September 2014, which reduced the conversion pfitee Debentures from $0.25 per share of Commonk3b $0.11 per share of Comn
Stock in consideration for the Debenture holdenmsveating the outstanding principal amount of theo®wures, plus accrued interest thrc
September 17, 2014.

Director Independence

The Board of Directors currently consists of thneembers, one of whom is “independeas$’defined under applicable rules of the SEC are
NASDAQ Stock Market LLC. The independent membethaf Board of Directors is Neil Tabatznik. Howevsince our stock trades on
OTC Bulletin Board and the OTCQB, we are not reggiito have independent directors.

For a director to be considered independent, trerdBmust determine that the director has no relakigp, which, in the opinion of the Boe
would interfere with the exercise of independerdgjment in carrying out the responsibilities of eedior.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

CohnReznick LLP has been appointed as our indepermblic accountants for the years ended Octotter2814 and 2013 by unanimi
approval of our board of directors.

The following table sets forth the aggregate fegd py CardioGenics for the fiscal years ended Batd1, 2014 and 2013 to our indepen
auditors:

Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended
October 2014 October 2013
Audit Fees $ 105,00 3 111,02
Audit Related Fee - --
Tax Fees - -
All Other Fees -- --
Total $ 105,00( $ 111,02t

(1) Represents fees billed for audit and review ofrintdinancial statements.
(?) CohnReznick LLP did not provide and did not bili fmy tax services and audit related serv

All Other Fees

There were no other fees billed by CohnReznick iri the years ended October 31, 2014 or 2013.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Board of Directors is required to pre-apprdwe tendering by our independent auditor of audjpexmitted noraudit services. The Boz
of Directors preapproved all of the services rendered by CohnREkznid® for the audits of the consolidated finanagtdtements included

our Annual Reports on Form 10-K and reviews of otidated financial statements included in our QerdytReports on Form 10-Q.

The services provided for 2014 were 57% audit sesviand 43% audit related fees. The services pdvadbove for 2013 were 54% al
services and 46% audit related fees.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Exhibits

The following Exhibits are filed as part of this Aumal Report on Form 10-K or incorporated by refeeen

Exhibit No. Description
3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporatib Registrant. Incorporated by reference to tlegifrant's Form 1@SE
filed with the SEC on June 19, 20(
3.2 Bylaws of Registrant. Incorporated by referencthtoRegistrar s Form SI-2 filed with the SEC on September 30, 19
3.3 Certificate of Designation of Series 1 PnefdrStock of Registrant. Incorporated by referetocthe Registrant’s Form R-
filed with the SEC on July 24, 200
3.4 Articles of Amendment of CardioGenics ExchangeCa. Ieffective July 14 2009 and Articles of Incorpa of
CardioGenics ExchangeCo Inc. Effective May 22, 2(
35 Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Inporation of Registrant. Incorporated by referercéhe Registrant’ Form DEI
14C filed with the SEC on September 9, 2C
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate. Incorpodatey reference to the Registrant’'s Form KI8B filed with the SEC ¢
November 8, 200t
4.2 Form of Series 2 Class B Stock Certificateotporated by reference to the Registrant's FadAK3B filed with the SEC ¢
November 8, 200t
10.1 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amendexhrporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to theifeant's Form B filed with
the SEC on May 1, 200
10.2 Share Purchase Agreement dated May 22, 2009 betRegistrant, CardioGenics ExchnageCo Inc., Cardid¢3elnc. Ant
Yahia Gawad, Principal Shareholder of CardioGelrics
10.3 Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement dated July0692among Registrant, CardioGenics ExchangeCoaimt.Weirfould
LLP. Incorporated by reference to the Regis’s Form &K filed with the SEC on July 6, 200
104 Support Agreement dated July 6, 2009 between Ragtsand CardioGenics ExchangeCo Inc. Incorporhtedeference |
the Registrars Form K filed with the SEC on July 6, 200
10.5 Employment agreement dated July 31, 2009 betwegistRant and Dr. Yahia Gawa
10.6 LLC Membership Interest Purchase Agreement datéduaey 10, 2010 between Registrant and Rothcovimé&rarLLC.
10.7 Form of Convertible Debenture Unit Purchase Agra@nicluding Forms of Convertible Debenture andri&at) by an
between the Registrant and the purchasers namearthincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1oaf Current Report ¢
Form &K, filed with the SEC on March 4, 201
10.8 Form of Convertible Debenture Unit Purchase Agragnfiicluding Forms of Convertible Debenture andri&at) by an
between the Registrant and the purchasers namegrthincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.loaf Current Report ¢
Form &K, filed with the SEC on June 3, 20!
10.9 Form of Interest Escrow Account Agreememt¢otporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of ourr€nt Report on Form 8,
filed with the SEC on June 3, 201
10.10 Investment Agreement, dated as of September 273,281and between Registrant and Dutchess Opportémind, 11, LP
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of ourr@nt Report on Form-K, filed with the SEC on October 3, 201
10.11 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Septe@be2013, by and between Registrant and Dutc@ggortunity Func
II, LP. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10f2ar Current Report on Forn-K, filed with the SEC on October 3, 201
14.1 Code of Ethics. Incorporated by reference intoRkgistrar's Form 1-KSB filed with the SEC on November 13, 20
211 Subsidiaries of Registrant. Incorporated by refeegio the Registra’s Form 1K filed with the SEC on January 31, 20:



23.1 Consent of CohnReznick LLF

311 Section 302 Certification of Chief Executive Offite

31.2 Section 302 Certification of Chief Financial Offite

321 Section 906 Certification of Chief Executive Offiand Chief Financial Officer
101.INS XBRL Instance Document**

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document**

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutiie
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docunt&n
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document**
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenift

*Filed herewith
** |n accordance with Regulation S-T, the XBRL-faaitted interactive data files that comprise Exhlffit in this Annual Report on Form X0-
shall be deemed “furnished” and not “filed”.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
CardioGenics Holdings, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of CardioGenics Holdings Inc. and Sudnsédi as of October 31, 2014 .
2013, and the related consolidated statements @fatipns, comprehensive loss, deficiency and chsinsffor the years then ended. Tt
consolidated financial statements are the respiibgibf the Companys management. Our responsibility is to express@nian on thes
consolidated financial statements based on outaudi

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBiogUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the congalitiatincial statements are free of mat
misstatement. The Company is not required to havewere we engaged to perform, an audit of iterirdl control over financial reportir
Our audit included consideration of internal cohtreer financial reporting as a basis for desigrénglit procedures that are appropriate it
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsamopinion on the effectiveness of the Compaiyternal control over financial reportii
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An aud@udes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgpahe amounts and disclosures in
financial statements. An audit also includes assggbe accounting principles used and signifiegsttmates made by management, as w
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@maWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbhsis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteereferred to above present fairly, in all materispects, the financial position
CardioGenics Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries a@atbber 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results ofpgsaiions and cash flows for the years
ended, in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States of America.

The consolidated financial statements referredoimva have been prepared assuming that the Compitingontinue as a going concern.
further discussed in Note 2 to the consolidatedrfaial statements, the Compasngperations have generated recurring losses ayaline cas
flows from operating activities. Such matters raigbstantial doubt about the Company’s abilitydotmue as a going concern. Managemnment
plans concerning these matters are also describdte 2. The accompanying consolidated finand&ksments do not include any adjustm
that might result from the outcome of these unaetits.

/s/ CohnReznick LL

Roseland, New Jerst
February 12, 201
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

October 31, 201/ October 31, 201:
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalel $ 70,67¢ $ 263,10:
Accounts Receivabl 22¢ 24¢€
Refundable Taxes Receival 2,62¢ 3,30z
Government Grants and Investment Tax Credits Rabé —_ 60,10
73,52¢ 326,75!
Long-Term Assets
Deposits and Prepaid Expen: 45,57¢ 49,26°
Property and Equipment, n 42,69 53,49¢
Patents, ne 108,13: 118,43
196,40: 221,19!
Total Assets $ 269,93( $ 547,95(
Liabilities and Deficiency
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Accrued Exper $ 1,020,800 $ 1,050,11!
Funds Held in Trust for Redemption of Class B ComrBbare: 4 4
Due to Shareholde 131,05: —
Notes Payable, net of debt disco 71,86 11,98:
Derivative Liability on Notes Payab 201,26( 99,70:
1,424,98! 1,161,80.
Long-Term Liabilities
Debentures Payab —_ 303,19(
— 303,19(
Total Liabilities 1,424,98! 1,464,99.
Commitments and Contingenci
Deficiency
Preferred stock; par value $.0001 per sh50,000,000 shares authorized, none is: — —
Common stock; par value $.00001 per share; 150000hares authorized,
47,383,379 and 34,726,668 common shares and 2927/76nd 24,176,927
exchangeable shares issued and outstanding ascdte®81, 2014 and 2013
respectively 692 56&
Additional paic-in capital 46,505,95 44,514,00
Deficit accumulated during development st (47,637,74) (44,957,87)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (23,95¢%) (117,519
Total deficiency attributable to CardioGenics Halgh Inc. (1,115,05) (560,82()
Non-controlling interest (356,224)
Total deficiency (1,115,05) (917,044
Total liabilities and deficienc $ 269,93( $ 547,95(

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the Years Ended October 31, 2014 and 2013

Revenue

Operating Expenses
Depreciation and Amortization of Property and Equémt
Amortization of Patent Application Cos
General and Administrativ
Research and Product Development, Net of InvestihaxCredits
Cost of Settlement of Lawsuit

Total operating expenses
Operating Loss

Other Expenses
Interest Expense and Bank Charges (|
Loss (Gain) on Change in Value of Derivative Lidhi
Loss (Gain) on Foreign Exchange Transact
Total other expense:
Net Loss
Net Loss Attributed to Non-Controlling Interest

Net Loss Attributed to CardioGenics Holdings Inc.

Basic and Fully Diluted Net Loss per Common Share
Weighted-average number of Common Share

For the Years Ended

October 31,
2014 2013
10,80: 14,48
10,30¢( 7,28¢
451 ,46¢ 1,886,66
500,93! 419,36
—_— 199,00(
973,50t 2,526,80;
(973,500 (2,526,80)
1,841,37. 300,11¢
(142,05 116,66:
7,051 (6,64))
1,706,37! 410,13!
(2,679,87)) (2,936,93)
—_— 18,29(
(2,679,87) (2,918,64)
(0.04) (0.05)
61,701,83 57,171,92

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive

Loss

For the Years Ended October 31, 2014 and 2013

Years Ended

October 31,
2014 2013
Net Loss $ (2,679,87) $ (2,936,93)
Net Loss attributable to n-controlling interest — 18,29(
(2,679,87)) (2,918,64)
Other comprehensive income (loss), currency tréinsladjustments 93,55’ 49,12
Comprehensive loss $ (2,586,31) $ (2,869,52)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Deficiency

For the Years Ended October 31, 2014 and 2013

Balance November 1, 20:
Issuance of common shares on conver
of notes payable May 201
Issuance of common shares for service
rendered June 20:
Issuance of common shares on conver
of notes payable July 20:
Issuance of common shares for service
rendered August 201
Issuance of warrants for services rende
August 201z
Issuance of common shares on conver
of notes payable September 2(
Issuance of warrants for services rende
September 201
Issuance of common shares for cash
October2013 at $0.2!
Issuance of common shares on conver
of notes payable October 20
Value of warrants and beneficial
conversion feature associated with
debentures issued in the yi
Settlement of derivative value of notes
payable orconversion to common shar
Net loss attributable to n-controlling
interest
Comprehensive Income (Los:
Net Loss
Other Comprehensive Incor

Currency Translation Adjustment

Total Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Balance October 31, 2013

Deficit
Accumulated Accumulated
Additional  During the Other

Common Stock Paid-in  Developmen Comprehensive Noncontrolling Total
Shares Amount Capital Stage Income (Loss) Interest Deficiency
56,676,16 $ 54% $42,036,49 $ (42,039,22) $ (166,63) $ (337,93) $ (506,75)
300,00( 3 27,21¢ 27,21¢
357,58 4 114,02: 114,02!
290,64 3 34,03¢ 34,03}
550,00( 5 142,99! 143,00(
1,040,001 1,040,001
120,00 1 13,68( 13,68:
90,00( 90,00(
400,00( 4 99,99¢ 100,00(
209,19¢ 2 16,94 16,94¢
746,65t 746,65€
151,96: 151,96:
(18,290 (18,290
(2,918,64) (2,918,64)
49,12: 49,12;
(2,918,64) 49,12 (2,869,52)
58,903,59 $ 56F $44,514,00 $ (44,957,87) $ (117,519 $ (356,229 $ (917,049

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Deficiency

For the years ended October 31, 2014 and 2013

Balance November 1, 2013
Issuance of common shares on conver:
of notes payable January 2C
Issuance of common shares on settlem
of suit January 201
Issuance of common shares for cash
January 201
Issuance of common shares on conver:
of shares of subsidial
Issuance of common shares on conver:
of notes payable February 20
Issuance of common shares on conver:
of notes payable March 20:
Issuance of common shares on conver:
of notes payable April 201
Issuance of common shares for service
rendered March 201
Issuance of common shares for service
rendered April 201.
Issuance of common shares on conver:
of notes payable May 20:
Issuance of common shares for service
rendered July 201
Issuance of common shares on conver:
of notes payable August 20
Issuance of common shares on conver:
of debentures payable September 2
Beneficial conversion charge from re-
pricing of shares and warrants associat
with converted debentur:
Issuance of common shares for service
rendered September 20
Issuance of common shares on conver:
of notes payable October 20
Settlement of derivative value of notes
payable on conversion to common shi
Comprehensive Income (Los:
Net Loss
Other Comprehensive Incor

Currency Translation Adjustment

T otal Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Balance October 31, 2014

Deficit
Accumulated
During Accumulated
Additional the Other
Common Stock Paid-in  Developmen Comprehensive Noncontrolling Total
Shares Amount Capital Stage Income (Loss) Interest Deficiency
58,003,59 $ 56F $44,514,00 $ (44,957,87) % (117,51) $ (356,229 $ (917,049
100,00 1 12,06¢ 12,067
700,00( 7 188,99: 189,00(
200,00 2 49,99¢ 50,00(
296,53t 3 (356,22) 356,22: -
154,65¢ 2 18,557 18,55¢
150,00( 1 14,89 14,89¢
160,00( 2 12,47¢ 12,48(
83,33! 1 17,91¢ 17,917
32,94¢ 0 7,08: 7,08:
258,33: 3 15,49; 15,50(
63,33¢ 1 8,23 8,23¢
250,00( 2 14,99¢ 15,00(
9,427,56 94 1,035,23 1,035,33.
745,12: 745,12:
500,00( 5 67,49¢ 67,50(
280,00( 3 13,48 13,49(
126,12¢ 126,12¢
(2,679,87i) (2,679,87))
93,55 93,551
(2,679,87) 93,55 (2,586,31)
71,560,30 $ 69z $46,505,95 $(47,637,74) $ (23,959 (1,155,05)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended October 31, 2014 and 2013

Cash flows from operating activities:
Consolidated net los
Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net lossetiocash used in operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of Patent Application Cos
Loss (Gain) on Change in Value of Derivative Lidhi
Interest and Discount on Notes Paye
Amortization of Discount on Debentures Paye
Common Stock and Warrants Issued for Services Red
Beneficial conversion charge included in interegtemse
Changes in working capital iterr
Account Receivabl
Deposits and Prepaid Expen:
Refundable Taxes Receival
Government Grants and Investment Tax Cre
Receivable
Accounts Payable and Accrued Exper

Net cash used in operating activit

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of Property and Equipm
Patent Application Cos

Net cash used in investing activiti

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from Notes Payal
(Repayment) of Capital Lease Obligatic
Due to Shareholde
Issue of Debenture
Issue of Common Shares for Ci

Net cash provided by financing activiti
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and qashakents

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents, end of

Years Ended

October 31
2014 2013
$ (2,679,87) $ (2,936,93)
10,80: 14,48
10,30( 7,28¢
(142,059 116,66:
494,24 103,86:
615,25: 112,60¢
100,73 1,387,02!
745,12: —
18 191
3,691 _—
677 40,75¢
60,10 16,93:
183,87" 418,57}
(597,11) (718,557
— (15%)
— (15,686
—_— (15,839
215,00 135,00(
—_— (2,627)
131,05: _—
—_— 700,00
50,00( 100,00(
396,05: 932,37:
8,632 38,11
(192,42) 236,09
263,10 27,00¢
$ 70,67¢ $ 263,10:

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2014 and 2013

1.

Nature of Business

The accompanying audited consolidated financiakstants have been prepared in accordance withetiigrements of Form 1R-anc
Article 8 of Regulation S-X of the Securities ankcBange Commission (the “SECAnd include the results of CardioGenics, Inc. ds
subsidiaries and JAG Media Holdings, Inc and itbsaiaries (*JAG Media”) ffom July 31, 2009, date of acquisition) which
collectively referred to as the “Company.”

CardioGenics Inc. (“CardioGenicsiyas incorporated on November 20, 1997 in the Poeviof Ontario, Canada, and carries on
business of development and commercialization afmibstic test products for the In Vitro Diagnostiesting market. CardioGenics |
several test products that are in various stagefewélopment. In the last quarter of 2011 Cardid&enommenced selling one of th
products, but has generated no significant revémerefrom.

On October 27, 2009 the name of the Company wasgeltefrom Jag Media Holdings, Inc. to CardioGemiogdings, Inc.

On January 17, 2013 the Company filed a Certifichtdmendment to the ComparsyArticles of Incorporation to increase the authea
common shares to 150,000,000 and de-authorizedahg@ény’s Class B common stock.

Basis of Presentatior

The accompanying consolidated financial statembat® been prepared using the accounting princgdeerally accepted in the Uni
States of America applicable to a going concernicivttontemplates the realization of assets andsHiesfaction of liabilities ar
commitments in the normal course of business.

The Company has incurred operating losses andxpesienced negative cash flows from operationsesinception. The Company ha
deficit accumulated at October 31, 2014 of apprately $47.6 million. The Company has not yet esthbd an ongoing source
revenues sufficient to cover its operating coststamallow it to continue as a going concern. TlenPany has funded its activities to ¢
almost exclusively from debt and equity financin§leese conditions raise substantial doubt abouCtirapanys ability to continue as
going concern.

The Company will continue to require substantialdsl to continue research and development, includieglinical studies and clinic
trials of its products, and to commence sales aaketing efforts, if the FDA and other regulatoppeovals are obtained. In order to n
its operating cash flow requirements Managenseplans include financing activities such as pavalacements of its common stock
issuances of convertible debt instruments. Managemealso actively pursuing industry collaboratagtivities including product licensi
and specific project financing.

While the Company believes it will be successfubbtaining the necessary financing to fund its afiens, there are no assurances
such additional funding will be achieved and thawvill succeed in its future operations. The fin@ahcstatements do not include
adjustments relating to the recoverability and sifasation of recorded asset amounts or amountkabflities that might be necessi
should the Company be unable to continue in exigten
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2014 and 2013

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

()

(f)

(9)

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include theoants of the Company and its 100% owned subsdia’All significan
intercompany transactions and balances have begimaied.

Cash and Cash Equivalent:

The Company considers all highly liquid investmegmischased with an original maturity of three mandh less to be cash equivale
Government Grants and Investment Tax Credits Receible

The Companys accounts include claims for investment tax cseiditating to scientific research activities of thempany prior to tt
acquisition described in Note 1. The qualificatiamd recording of this activity for investment taedit purposes is established
Canadian Income Tax authorities when the incomereétixrns for the period are assessed. The creditbkan recognized in 1
statement of operations in the year in which theeeses were incurred.

Subsequent to the acquisition described in Nothe Company no longer qualifies to receive subshrgfunds of Investment T
Credits (“ITCs")resulting from scientific research. Currently thajanity of ITCs resulting from scientific researate carried forwai
to a time when the Company becomes tax paying athwhme said ITCs are applicable against taxesplzy

Property and Equipment

Property under capital leases and the related aiwhig for future lease payments are initially refsat at an amount equal to the le

of fair value of the property or equipment and phesent value of those lease payments. Propertequigpment is depreciated us
methods and rates as follows:

Furniture and Fixture 20% declining balanc
Lab Equipmen 20% declining balanc
Computer Equipmer— Hardware 30% declining balanc
Computer Equipmer— Software 50% declining balanc
Leasehold Improvements Straight-line over the lessthe life of the asset or the

life of the lease
Patents

Capitalized patent costs represent legal and agijait costs incurred to establish patents. Capédlipatent costs are amortized
straight-line method over the related patent te&xmpatents are abandoned, the net book value gfatent is written off.

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the impairment of long-ligedta under the guidance of standards for the impat or disposal of lontived
assets whenever events or changes in circumstamtieate that the carrying value may not be recabler. For londived assets to |
held and used, the Company recognizes an impairimemnbnly if its carrying amount is not recovembhd exceeds its fair value. -
carrying amount of the lonlived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds tha sfithe undiscounted cash flows expected to résut
the use and eventual disposal of the asset.

Research and Development Cos

Expenditures for research and development are segess incurred and include, among other costsetralated to the production
prototype products, including payroll costs. Amauakpected to be received from governments undenfcc Research Tax Cre
arrangements are offset against current expensesCbmpany recognizes revenue from restricted grianthe period in which tl
Company has incurred the expenditures in complianttethe specific restrictions.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2014 and 2013

(h) Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the liability method of acctimg for income taxes as set forth in the authtivigaguidance. Under the liabill
method, deferred taxes are determined based otertiygorary differences between the financial stateraad tax basis of assets
liabilities using tax rates expected to be in dfféaring the years in which the basis differena@gerse. A valuation allowance
recorded when it is more likely than not that soofighe deferred tax assets will not be realized.tiexe is no certainty that 1
Company will generate taxable income in the forabkefuture to utilize tax losses accumulated tie,dao provision for ultimate ti
reduction has been made in these financial statismen

On November 1, 2007, the Company adopted the goéd@ssued for accounting for uncertainty in incotares which provide
detailed guidance for the financial statement radapn, measurement and disclosure of uncertainp@sitions recognized in
enterprise’s financial statements. Income tax pstmust meet a more-likely-thaot recognition threshold at the effective dated
recognized upon the adoption of the guidance ansulrsequent periods. The Company recognizes paitextcrued interest a
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefitsiwitperations as income tax expense. Upon adoptimre were no adjustme
required.

(i) Stock-Based Compensatiot

The Company follows the authoritative guidancedimck-based compensation which requires that nesdjfrad and unvested share-
based payment transactions with employees, sucyraags of stock options and restricted stock, lmgrized in the financi
statements based on their fair value at the gratet @nd recognized as compensation expense owevélséng periods. The Compe
has also considered the related guidance of the. SBE Company estimates the fair value of stockoaptand shares issued
compensation to employees and directors as ofateeaf grant using the Blackeholes pricing model and restricted stock baseithe
per share value. The Company also follows the guiddor equity instruments that are issued to dien employees for acquiring,
in conjunction with selling, goods or services &quity instruments issued to consultants which idiess guidance on transaction:
which (1) the fair value of the equity instrumergsnore reliably measurable than the fair valu¢hefgoods or services received
(2) the counterparty receives shares of stockkstptions, or other equity instruments in settletmarthe entire transaction or, if 1
transaction is part cash and part equity instrument settlement of the portion of the transacfienwhich the equity instrumer
constitute the consideration. Options issued wittominal exercise price in exchange for servicesieeed were measured at the
value of the underlying services rendered on the d& grant. The expense was recorded to the statiewf operations with
corresponding increase in share capital with natiaél increase in the number of shares as theg tegally not yet exercised.

()) Net Loss Per Common Shar:
Basic loss per share is computed by dividing lasslable to common stockholders by the weightedaye number of common she
outstanding during the period. Diluted loss persttaves effect to all dilutive potential commorasts outstanding during the per
The computation of diluted loss per share doesaestime conversion, exercise or contingent exeofisecurities that would have
anti-dilutive effect on loss per share.

(k) Comprehensive Income (Loss

Other comprehensive income (loss), which includely doreign currency translation adjustments, i®wgh in the Statements
Deficiency.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2014 and 2013

()

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company maintains cash balances, at times, fin#mcial institutions in excess of amounts insul®y the Canada Depc
Insurance Corporation and the Federal Deposit &msue Corporation. Management monitors the soundufefgse institutions al
has not experienced any collection losses withetfiesncial institutions.

(m) Use of Estimates

(n)

(0)

(9)

(a)

(r

The preparation of financial statements in conftymaith accounting principles generally acceptedhia United States of Ameri
requires management to make estimates and assusptiat affect the reported amounts of assets iabdities and disclosure
contingent assets and liabilities at the datedeffinancial statements and the reported amountsveinues and expenses during
reporting periods. Actual results could differ fraghose estimates. By their nature, these estin@atesubject to uncertainty and
effect on the consolidated financial statementshainges in such estimates in future periods cosilehterial.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company maintains its accounting records ®Ciénadian operations in Canadian dollars. Tralsecin United States dolle
("USD”) are translated into Canadian dollars at ratesfeceat the date of the transaction and gains $sde on such transactions
recorded at the time of settlement in the staterofaperations.

The Companys reporting currency is the USD. Foreign denomihatesets and liabilities of the Company are traedlanto USD ¢
the prevailing exchange rates in effect at the @rttie reporting period, the historical rate faycitholders’deficiency and a weight
average of exchange rate in effect during the gefiio expenses, gains and losses. Adjustmentsatied from translation into t
reporting currency are recorded in the accumulatedr comprehensive income (loss) component okbktalders’ deficiency.

Financial Instruments

The carrying values of cash and cash equivaletitgr @urrent assets, accounts payable and accipethges approximate their 1
values due to their short-term nature. Ldagn debt and convertible debentures approximage fair value based upon rec
issuances of the underlying debt.

Revenue Recognitior

Revenue included in these consolidated financééstents is derived from sales of paramagneticsbaad is recognized on shipm
to customers.

Derivative Instruments

The Companys derivative liabilities are related to embeddedvession features of the Notes Payable. For devivamstruments th
are accounted for as liabilities, the derivativetinment is initially recorded at its fair valuedais then resalued at each reporting d¢
with changes in fair value recognized in earningshereporting period. The Company uses the BRdlkeles model to value 1
derivative instruments at inception and subsequehtation dates and the value isagsessed at the end of each reporting peri
accordance with Accounting Standards CodificattxSC”) 815. Derivative instrument liabilities are classifiin the consolidat:
balance sheets as current or non-current basecheth@r or not the netash settlement of the derivative instrument cdigldequire
within twelve months of the consolidated balanceesiuate.

Beneficial Conversion Charge

The intrinsic value of beneficial conversion featuarising from the issuance of convertible delrestwith conversion rights that .
in-theimoney at the commitment date is recorded as dsbbdnt and amortized to interest expense overettme of the debenture
The intrinsic value of a beneficial conversion teatis determined after initially allocating an epriate portion of the procee
received from the sale of the debentures to angctiable instruments, such as warrants, includdtigrsale or exchange basec
relative fair values.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2014 and 2013

(s) Recently Issued Accounting Standard
Revenue From Contracts With Customers

In May 2014, the FASB issued an update to ASC &#enue from Contracts with Customers. This uptta®SC 606 provide
a five-step process to determine when and how reven@eagnized. The core principle of the guidance a ghCompany shot
recognize revenue upon transfer of promised goodeiwvices to customers in an amount that refldesexpected considerat
to be received in exchange for those goods andcestvThis update to ASC 606 will also result ih@mnced disclosures ab
revenue, providing guidance for transactions thateanot previously addressed comprehensively, ayptoving guidance fi
multiple-element arrangements. This update to ASC 606 éctfe for the Company beginning in fiscal 2017eT@ompany |
currently evaluating the impact of this update tsrconsolidated financial statements.

Development Stage Entities: Elimination of Certainancial Reporting Requirements
On June 10, 2014, FASB issued Accounting Standdptkate No. 20140, Development Stage Entities: Elimination of @m
Financial Reporting Requirements. The update remthe definition of a development stage entity fremSB ASC 915 ar
eliminates the requirement for development staditiesnto present inception-tate information on the statements of operat
cash flows and stockholders’ equity. The Compangaaly adopted this standard for the period coveyettie report herein.

Other pronouncements issued by the FASB or othémoatative accounting standards group with futeffective dates are either |
applicable or not significant to the consolidatedificial statements of the Company.

4. Property and Equipment

The costs and accumulated depreciation and amtbotizaf property and equipment are summarized bows:

October 31
2014 2013
Furniture and Fixture $ 12,12 $ 12,12(
Lab Equipmen 168,48: 168,48:
Computer Hardwar 19,49( 19,49(
Computer Softwar 8,43: 8,43:
Leasehold Improvemen 91,26¢ 91,26¢
Total Property and Equipme 299,79: 299,79:
Less Accumulated Depreciation and Amortizat 257,10( 246,29°
Property and Equipment, N $ 42,69 $ 53,49¢

Depreciation and amortization expense amounted @883 and $14,484 for the years ended Octobe2@¥ and 2013, respectively.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2014 and 2013

5. Patents

The costs and accumulated amortization of pateatsiammarized as follows:

October 31
2014 2013
Patents $ 144,02. $ 144,02:
Less: Accumulated Amortization (35,890 (25,590
Patents, Net $ 108,13. $ 118,43.
Weighted-Average Life 7 Year: 7 Year:

Amortization expense amounted to $10,300 and $7@8the years ended October 31, 2014 and 201Bectisely. Amortization expen
is expected to be approximately $10,300 per yeahfyears ended October 31, 2015 through 2019.

6. Due to Shareholders
The amount due to shareholders is due on demandaarids interest at 10% per annum.
7. Income Taxes

The Company adopted the provisions of the guiddaceincertainty in income taxes on November 1, 20ite guidance clarifies t
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recogtim an enterprisg’financial statement, and prescribes a recognttioeshold an
measurement process for financial statement rettogrand measurement of a tax position taken oeebgul to be taken in a tax returt
also provides guidance on de-recognition classifioainterest and penalties accounting in intepieniods disclosure and transition.

Based on the Compargyevaluation, management has concluded that ther@asignificant tax positions requiring recogpritiin the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company has incurred losses in Canada sineptina which have generated net operating loss/foawards (“NOLs”) for income
tax purposes. The net operating loss carryforwanising from Canadian sources as of October 314 20é&re $7,922,318 (2013 -
$7,250,448) which will expire from 2015 through 203

All fiscal years except 2013 have been assessextaReh and development tax credit for 2012 for twitlie Company received a refunt
$81,460 is being refuted by Canadian taxation aittes. The Company is disputing the position takgrthe taxation authorities but |
established a reserve against possible repayment.

As of October 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company h&D[s”) from US sources of approximately $44,784,000 and,&8D,00(C
respectively, available to reduce future Federmhltée income which will expire from 2020 through320 With certain exceptions, 1
Company is no longer subject to U.S. Federal inctarexaminations by tax authorities for years piio2008. Returns for the years 2
through 2014 are yet to be filed.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2014 and 2013

Internal Revenue Code Section 382 (“Section 38&ipdses a limitation on a corporatierability to utilize NOLs if it experiences
ownership change. In general, an ownership charayeaocur from certain transactions that increaseotlinership of 5% stockholders
the stock of a corporation by more than 50 pergenfaoints over a three year period. If an ownershipnge occurs, utilization of 1
NOLs would be subject to an annual limitation. Bmaual limitation under Section 382 is calculatgdhultiplying the value of the sto
at the time of the ownership change by the appiciddngterm exempt rate. Any unused annual limitation rbaycarried over to lat
years. The Company has historically been in a passtion and, therefore, the Section 382 limitatinay not be relevant for the curr
period.

For the years ended October 31, 2014 and 2013 dnepanys effective tax rate differs from the statutoryergtincipally due to the r
operating losses for which no benefit was recorded.

As of October 31, 2014 and 2013, the Comparigferred tax assets consisted of the effecteropdrary differences attributable to

following:
October 31
2014 2013

Temporary:

Property and equipme $ (24,09) $ (18,95

Net operating loss carryforwar 18,640,18 16,600,88

Unrealized foreign exchang 23,17¢ 17,86:

Investment tax credit 402,18 402,18
Transitional tax debit (25,07¢) (25,07¢)
Unrealized loss (gain) on derivative liabil (37,18) 11,117
Total Deferred Tax Asse 18,979,20 16,988,02
Valuation Allowance (18,979,20) (16,988,02)
Net Deferred Income Taxt $ —_ 3 —_—

A reconciliation of the Canadian combined statutatg to the Compang’effective tax rate for the years ended OctobefB814 and 201

is as follows:
October 31
2014 2013
Statutory rate 28% 28%
Decrease in income tax rate resulting frc
Rate difference — —
Changes in tax ra — —
Other — —
Permanent difference (1.9% (5.2%
Change in valuation allowance (26.79)% (22.6)%
Effective tax rate 0.C% 0.C%
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8. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts Payabl

Income Tax Reserv
Research and Developme
Investor Relation

Patent Application Cos
Legal Fee:

Settlement of Lawsu
Accounting Fees

Total

October 31

2014 2013
289,05 $ 253,61¢
321,46( 220,00(
17,00 34,90:
11,73¢ 20,60:
5,02¢ 10,43(
316,12 273,73:
—_— 199,00
60,40( 37,83
1,020,80' $ 1,050,11!

9. Stock-Based Compensatior

The Company follows the guidance for stock-basedpmnsation. Stockased employee compensation related to stock aptamreach c
the years ended October 31, 2014 and 2013 amotmg:0-.

The following is a summary of the common stock apsi granted, forfeited or expired and exercisectutite Plan:

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Options Price

Outstandin¢— October 31, 201 30,000 % 0.9C
Grantec — —_
Forfeited/expirec — -
Exercised - —
Outstandin¢— October 31, 201 30,000 $ 0.9C
Grantec — —_
Forfeited/expirec — -
Exercisec —_— —_—
Outstandin¢— October 31, 201 30,000 $ 0.9C

Options typically vest immediately at the date o&rg. As such, the Company does not have any ustvegptions or unrecogniz
compensation expense at October 31, 2014 and 2013.

The fair value of each option granted is estimatedrant date using the Bla8choles option pricing model which takes into act@s o
the grant date the exercise price and expectedfiifiee option, the current price of the underlystgck and its expected volatility, expec
dividends on the stock and the riske interest rate for the term of the option. Tampany granted no stock options during the
ended October 31, 2014 and 2013.

F- 15




CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2014 and 2013

The following table summarizes information on stoghions outstanding at October 31, 2014

Options Outstanding and Exercisa

Weighted
Number Weighted Average
Outstanding Average Remaining Aggregate
at Exercise Life Intrinsic
October 31, 201 Price (Years) Value
30,00 $ 0.9C 4.7F
30,00( 4.7 $ 0
For the Year Ended October !
2014 2013
Weighted Average Fair Value of Options Grar $ — $ —
Cash Received for Exercise of Stock Opti $ — $ —

The intrinsic value is calculated as the differebhetwveen the market value as of October 31, 20#l4laexercise price of the shares.
market value as of October 31, 2014 was $0.10p@wterd by the OTC Bulletin Board.

10. Notes Payable

On November 19, 2012 the Company entered into egeatent (“Line”) with IMJ Financial (“Lenderiyhereby the Company may borr
up to $350,000 from the Lender in increments of,860. The Line is subject to an original issue alistt of $50,000. Advances under
Line (“Notes”) have a maturity date of one year from the datéhefadvance. If the advance is repaid within threatirs the advance
interest free. If not repaid within three montte advance may not be repaid before maturity aréesanterest at 5%. The Lender has
right at any time to convert all or part of thestahding principal and accrued interest (and ahgrdees) into shares of fully paid and non
assessable shares of common stock of the Companprate equal to the lesser of $0.23 and 60%efdivest trade price in the 25 trad
days previous to the conversion. Unless agreedriting by the parties, at no time will the Lendemeert any amount owing under
Line into common stock that would result in the denowning more than 4.99% of the common stocktanting.

On May 23, 2014 the Company issued promissory nhes‘LG Notes”)to LG Capital Funding, LLC and Adar Bays, LLC (eatively
the “Holders”)in the amount of $52,500 each bearing interestatBnually due May 23, 2015. The LG Notes and actioterest may |
converted into shares of common stock of the Compam 42% discount to the lowest closing bid veith2 day look back. The LG No
may be prepaid with the following penalties: (ithie Notes are prepaid within 60 days of the istate, then at 130% of the face am
plus any accrued interest; (ii) if the LG Notes prepaid after 60 days after the issue date battlem 181 days after the issue date, th
140% of the face amount plus any accrued intefés.LG Notes may not be prepaid after the 180thadsey issue.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2014 and 2013

11.

A summary of the Notes at October 31, 2014 and 2043 follows:

October 31, 201 October 31, 201

Convertible Note Payable, due June 27, 2 $ - 3 25,00(
Convertible Note Payable, due September 26, . - 35,00(
Convertible Note Payable, due February 20, Z 12,52¢ -
Convertible Notes Payable, due May 23, 2 105,00( -
Convertible Note Payable, due June 23, 2 40,00( -
Convertible Note Payable, due October 22, 2 35,00( -
Debt Discount - value attributable to conversicatfee attached to

notes, net of accumulated amortization of $71,368%11,983 (120,660 (48,01Y)
Total 71,86 11,98
Less: Current portion 71,86 11,98!
Total Lon¢-term portion $ - $ -

As described in further detail in Note 11, “Derivat Liabilities”, the Company determines the fair value of the eméadttrivatives ar
records them as a discount to the Notes and asiatie liability. The discount to the Notes is artized to Loss (Gain) on Change
Value of Derivative Liability over the life of thBlote or until conversion. The amount charged tosL@Sain) on Change in Value
Derivative Liability for the year was $(142,054)pth conversion of the Notes and related interedtaiginal issue discount to comn
stock, any remaining unamortized discount is chéitgefinancing expense. During the year ended Q@tt8t, 2014, Notes in the princi
amount of $83,459 plus interest and original is$igeount totaling $18,532 were exchanged for 1@%P common shares.

Derivative Liabilities
Convertible notes - embedded conversion features:

The Notes meet the definition of a hybrid instrumess defined in ASC 815. The hybrid instrumentdmprised of i) a debt instrument
the host contract and ii) an option to convertdebentures into common stock of the Company, ana#vedded derivative. The embed
derivatives derive their value based on the undweglfair value of the Company’common stock. The embedded derivatives are gatly
and closely related to the underlying host dehirimsent since the economic characteristics andassociated with these derivatives
based on the common stock fair value.

The Company determines the fair value of the eméadttrivatives and records them as a discountetdNtites and a derivative liabili
The Company has recognized a derivative liability$869,738 (2013- #35,000) during the year ended October 31, 20140/Atingly
changes in the fair value of the embedded derigatite immediately recognized in earnings and d¢ladsas a gain or loss on -
embedded derivative financial instrument in theoagganying consolidated statements of operations.

The Company estimated the fair value of the embedikrivatives using a Black Scholes model with fokowing assumption:
conversion price $0.058 per share for the LG Nated $0.06 for IMJ Notes according to the agreemenisfree interest rate of .11
expected life of 1 year; expected dividend of zervolatility factor of 170% to 195%, as of Octol®r, 2014. The expected lives of
instruments are equal to the contractual term@ftinversion option. The expected volatility isdzhenthe historical price volatility of tt
Company’s common stock. The riflee interest rate represents the U.S. Treasurstanhmaturities rate for the expected life ofrrilatec
conversion option. The dividend yield representscgrated cash dividends to be paid over the exgeklife of the conversion option.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2014 and 2013

13. Fair Value Measurements

As defined by the Accounting Standard Codificatifair, value measurements and disclosures establig@rarchy that prioritizes fair val
measurements based on the type of inputs usebdararious valuation techniques (market approacimme approach and cost approz
The levels of hierarchy are described below:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted markegtgin active markets for identical assets driliiges.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted market priced Hie observable for the asset or liability, eittlieectly or indirectly; these inclu
quoted prices for similar assets or liabilitiesactive markets, such as interest rates and yiakesuthat are observable at commonly
quoted intervals

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that reflect the répg entity's own assumptions, as there is little, if any,teglanarket activity

The following table summarizes the financial liks measured at fair value on a recurring basisf@ctober 31, 2014, segregated by
level of the valuation inputs within the fair valberarchy utilized to measure fair value:

Quoted Prices il Total Increase (Reductic
Active Markets fol Significant Othe Significant in Fair Value
Balance Shee Identical Assets c Observable Input Unobservable October 31, 201 Recorded a
Location Liabilities (Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3 Total October 31, 201
Liabilities:
Derivative liability —
on Notes Payab\ $ - % - % 201,26l $ 201,26( $ (142,054

The Company utilizes the Blackeholes Option Pricing model to estimate the failug of the derivative liability associated withe
convertible note obligation. The Company considbiem to be Level 3 instruments. The following tabl®ws the weighted aver:
assumptions the Company used to develop the fhieestimates for the determination of the dereatiability at October 31, 2014:

Fair value $0.05¢-.06C
Expected volatility 162-16%%
Dividend yield -
Expected term (in year .31-.94
Risk-free interest rat 11%

The table below sets forth a summary of changakenfair value of the Comparg/Level 3 financial liability, or derivative lialtiles
related to the senior secured convertible notesnsrdants, for the year ended October 31, 2014.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2014 and 2013

2014 2013
Balance at beginning of ye $ 99,70: $ >
Additions to derivative instrumen 369,73t 135,00(
Change in fair value of derivative liabilitir (142,059 116,66:
Settlements (126,129 (151,96))
Balance at end of year $ 201.26( $ 99,70:

14. Debentures Payable

In February 2013, loans from shareholder/directorthe amount of $288,584 were converted on a dédiadollar basis for Series
Convertible Debenture Units (the “A Units'Bach A Unit includes a debenture having a ternhodd years, bearing interest at 10%, ¢
warrant having a term of three years. The debestare convertible at any time into common shareb@fCompanys stock at a price
$0.25 per share. The warrants entitle the holdgyurehase 2 times the number of common shareseoCtimpanys stock allowed i
conjunction with the debentures at a price of $@@5share at any time up to three years.

In May 2013 the Company sold Series B Convertibéd&nture Units (the “B Unitsin the amount of $500,000. Each B Unit includ
debenture having a term of three years, bearimgant at 10%, and a warrant having a term of theees. The debentures are convertib
any time into common shares of the Comparstbck at a price of $0.25 per share. The warmmitde the holder to purchase 1.5 times
number of common shares of the Comparstock allowed in conjunction with the debentusea price of $0.15 at any time up to tt
years.

In June 2013 the Company sold Series B Converfildbenture Units (the “B Units")n the amount of $148,653 to officers an
directors. Each B Unit includes a debenture hagitgrm of three years, bearing interest at 10% sawerrant having a term of three ye
The debentures are convertible at any time intormomshares of the Compasystock at a price of $0.25 per share. The warramtitle
the holder to purchase 1.5 times the number of comshares of the Compasystock allowed in conjunction with the debentwata prici
of $0.15 at any time up to three years.

The Company allocated proceeds of $306,900 toainevélue of the warrants using a Black Scholesehadth the following assumptior
conversion price $0.25 or $0.15 per share accorttinthe agreements; risk free interest rate of ;18%pected life of 3 years; expec
dividend of zero; a volatility factor of 176% to 3%, as of October 31, 2013 and the remaining $263t0 the fair value of the Serie:
Convertible Debentures. Based on the excess addbesgate fair value of the common shares thatdvioave been issued if the Serie
Convertible Debentures had been converted immeyiater the proceeds allocated to the Series B €diile Debentures, the invest
received a beneficial conversion feature that hadhggregate intrinsic value of $343,996 as of themitment date. Accordingly, t
Company recorded an increase in additional paichpital and debt discount of $650,896 in conipectvith the issuance of the Serie
Convertible Debentures and warrants.

On September 17, 2014, the Series A and Series®etiible Debentures plus acquired interest wereveded to 9,427,576 comm
shares. The conversion price of both Series A an@$B Convertible Debentures was reduced to $ft e conversion date.
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2014 and 2013

The reduction in conversion price from $0.25 to130to induce the conversion resulted in additidmeheficial conversion charge
$745,121 during the year ended October 31, 2014.

A summary of the Debentures at October 31, 20142848 is as follows:

October 31, 201 October 31, 201

Series A Convertible Debentures Payable, intere$0% per annum

maturity at February 27, 20: - 3 288,58:
Series B Convertible Debentures Payable, intette$0% per annum

maturity at May 31, 201 - 500,00(
Series B Convertible Debentures Payable, interte$0% per annum

maturity at June 3, 201 - 148,65:
Debt Discount - (634,04)
Total - 303,191
Less: Current portio - -
Total Lonc-term portion - $ 303,19(

Debt discount is amortized to Interest Expense thelife of the Debentures. The amount amortizebhterest Expense for the year er
October 31, 2014 was $ 219,400.

F- 20




15. Warrants
Outstanding warrants are as follows:

October 31
2014 2013

Issued to Flow Capital Advisors Inc. on settlemehtawsuit in August 2011, entitlir
the holder to purchase 1 common share in the Coyngiaan exercise price of $0.30
common share up to and including August 23, Z $ 250,000 $ 250,00(
Issued to Flow Capital Advisors Inc. on settlemehtawsuit August 2011, entitling t
holder to purchase 1 common share in the Compamn axercise price of $0.50 |
common share up to and including August 23, 2 250,00( 250,00(
Issued to Flow Capital Advisors Inc. on settlemehtawsuit August 2011, entitling t
holder to purchase 1 common share in the Compaman &xercise price of $0.75 |
common share up to and including August 23, 2 500,00 500,00t
Issued to Flow Capital Advisors Inc. on settlemehtawsuit August 2011, entitling t
holder to purchase 1 common share in the Comparman &xercise price of $1.00 |
common share up to and including August 23, 2 500,00 500,00t
Issued to Flow Capital Advisors Inc. on settlemehtawsuit August 2011, entitling t
holder to purchase 1 common share in the Compamn axercise price of $0.75 |
common share up to and including August 23, 2 500,00t 500,00t
Issued to debenture holders February 2013 entitliegholders to purchase 1 comr
share in the Company at an exercise price of $@etTommon share up to and incluc
February 27, 201 600,00( 600,00
Issued to debenture holders May 2013 entitlinghthlelers to purchase 1 common sl
in the Company at an exercise price of $0.14 pergon share up to and including J
3, 2016 750,00( 750,00t
Issued to debenture holders June 2013 entitlindhtiders to purchase 1 common sl
in the Company at an exercise price of $0.15 pergon share up to and including J
3, 2016 232,50( 232,501
Issued to consultants August 5, 2013, entitlinghtbielers to purchase 2,500,000 com
shares in the Company at an exercise price of $pef5common share up to ¢
including August 4, 202 2,500,001 2,500,001
Issued to consultants August 5, 2013, entitlinghtblelers to purchase 1,500,000 com
shares in the Company at an exercise price of $pefOcommon share up to ¢
including August 4, 202 1,500,001 1,500,001
Issued to consultant September 3, 2013, entithieghblder to purchase 500,000 com!
shares in the Company at an exercise price of $pe&sf0common share up to ¢
including July 31, 201 500,00 500,00t
Issued to shareholder October 29, 2013, entitlegholder to purchase 250,000 com
shares in the Company at an exercise price of $pef5common share up to ¢
including October 29, 201 250,00( 250,00(
Issued to shareholder November 7, 2013, entitlngy Holder to purchase 1 comn
shares in the Company at an exercise price of $fpei5common share up to ¢
including November 7, 201 125,00( -

Total Warrants outstandir $ 8,457,500 $ 8,332,501

16. Authorized Share Capital

On September 30, 2009, the Compangrticles of incorporation were amended to in@dhs total number of common shares autho
for issuance from 500,000,000 shares to 650,000d4b@0es of common stock, par value $0.00001 peesi@n April 23, 2010, tt
Companys Board of Directors approved a reverse stock eplis issued and outstanding common shares. dlaéduthorized shares v

at the same time reduced to 65,000,000. The BdaDirectors selected a ratio of one-fi@n and the reverse split was effective Jun
2010. As a result, the total number of shares btlasses of capital stock authorized for issuabgehe Company decreased ft
700,440,000 shares to 70,044,000 shares with &ghae of $.00001 per share, of which 5,000,000eshare authorized for issuanct
preferred stock, 65,000,000 shares are author@eidsuance as common stock, 40,000 shares areraeith for issuance as Series 2 C

B common stock and 4,000 shares are authorizedsoance as Series 3 Class B common stock. Ondahnia2013 the Company filec
Certificate of Amendment to the Company’s Artictefsincorporation to increase the authorized comrsleares to 150,000,000 and de
authorize the Company’s Class B common stock.
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October 31, 2014 and 2013

17. Issuance of Common Stocl

During the year ended October 31, 2014 and 2018tmpany issued the following common shares:

Year Ended October 31, 20

Year Ended October 31, 20

# of share: Amount # of share: Amount

Issuance to third parties for services rend: 679,61 $ 100,73: 907,58. $ 257,02!
Issuance to third parties for ce 200,000 $ 50,00( 400,00 $ 100,00(
Issuance to third parties on exercise of conversfon

notes payabl 1,352,99. $ 101,99: 919,84 % 91,88:
Issued to debenture holders on exercise of cororerdi

debentures payab 9,427,571  $ 1,035,33 - -
Issued to minority shareholders on exchange of thei

shares in subsidiary for shares in the Comp 296,53t - - -

The fair value of shares issued for services reatlerere measured at the fair value of the servieedered on the date rendered.

18. Redemption of Class B Common Stoc

On or about February 28, 2011 CardioGenics Holdings (“Holdings”) mailed notices to the holders of its outstandingeSe? Class
Common Stock (the “Series 2 Shares”) and Seriea8s@ Common Stock (the “Series 3 SharesBich notify such stockholders tl
Holdings has elected to redeem all outstandingeS&iShares and Series 3 Shares in accordancéheitherms. The Redemption Dat

April 4, 2011 and the Redemption Price is par vake00001 per shar

Holdings has established a trust account with TkB&anada, which account will hold proceeds sudfitito redeem the issued .
outstanding Series 2 Shares and Series 3 Sharesrditgly, notwithstanding that any certificate ®eries 2 Shares or Series 3 St
called for redemption shall not have been surreawiéor cancellation, all Series 2 Shares and S8rfglsares called for redemption shal
longer be deemed outstanding, and all rights wapect to such Series 2 Shares and Series 3 Sfledorthwith on the Redempti
Date cease and terminate, except only the righh®fholders thereof to receive the pada amount payable of the Series 2 Share

Series 3 Shares, without intere

19. Net Loss per Share

The following table sets forth the computation afighte-average shares outstanding for calculating basiddated (loss) per shar

Weightec-average share- basic
Effect of dilutive securities

Weighted-average shares - diluted
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CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2014 and 2013

Basic (loss) per share (“EPS3hd diluted EPS for the years ended October 314 201 2013 have been computed by dividing thelpss
available to common stockholders for each respeqtieriod by the weighted average shares outstamtlinigg that period. All outstandi
options, warrants and shares to be issued uporexbecise of the outstanding options and warrants @mnversion of debt represent
12,195,822 and 12,896,786 incremental shares, ¢tdgply, have been excluded from the years endddhligc 31, 2014 and 2013, respectiv
computation of diluted EPS as they are antidilugiveen the net losses generated.

20. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
Lease
The Company has entered into an operating leasegnt for the use of operating space.

Aggregate minimum annual lease commitments of thm@any under the notancelable operating lease as of October 31, 2644
follows. (The Company is required in addition to/@aproportionate share of building operationalenges.) :

Year Amount

2015 $ 49,89
2016 51,15:
Thereaftel 42,62
Total Minimum Lease Paymer $ 143,67(

Lease expense amounted to $70,374 and $60,518<fgears ended October 31, 2014 and 2013, respkrctiv

The preceding data reflects existing leases and dog include replacements upon their expirationthle normal course of busine
operating leases are generally renewed or replagether leases.

Lawsuit

On April 22, 2009, the Company was served with aieshent of claim from a former employee claimingnpensation for wrongf
dismissal and ancillary causes of action includiagment of monies in realization of his investmienthe Company, with an aggreg
claim of $514,000.

On January 3, 2014 the suit was settled for cashideration of $10,000 plus 700,000 common shares.

21. Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Informatior

For the Year Ende

October 31
2014 2013

Cash paid during the period fc

Interest $ 16,90 $ 28,11¢

Income Taxe! — —
Non-cash financing activities

Conversion of shareholder loan and accrued expdoskbenture — 255,00(

Conversion of notes payable including principaterast and original issu

discount 101,99: 91,88:

Value of beneficial conversion feature and warrésggaed with debenture

issued during the ye: 745,12: 746,65¢
Settlement of accrued legal by issuance of comrhares 189,001 —_—

F- 23




CardioGenics Holdings Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
October 31, 2014 and 2013

22. Subsequent Event:

a.

b.

In November 2014, $12,259 in principal amount oflJ\tes payable were converted to 299,679 commemesiof the Compan

In November 2014, the Company received $50,000 f@dicago Ventures in exchange for a note payaldeinge interest at 10% d
in one year, convertible into shares in the Compmoepmmon stock at a 40% discount from the lowesdicy price of the comm:i
shares over the prior 15 da

On November 20, 2014 the Company reached aeBediit with IBC Funds, LLC (“IBC"whereby IBC agreed to pay $78,026 of
Company’s debts in exchange for the right to pusehshares in the Compasycommon stock at a 40% discount from the lo
closing price of the common shares over the prioddys.

In November 2014, $10,005 in principal amount & HBC indebtedness was converted to 290,000 conghares of the Compan

In December 2014, $15,000 in principal amount of C@pital notes payable were converted to 690,28hnwon shares of tl
Company.

In December 2014, $5,000 in principal amount of ABays notes payable were converted to 287,356 amshares of the Compal
In December 2014, $12,240 in principal amount ef C indebtedness was converted to 2,000,000 conshares of the Compar
In December 2014, the Company received $50,000 fr@Capital in exchange for a note payable beairitgrest at 8% due in o
year, convertible into shares in the Comf's common stock at a 42% discount from the lowesgicy price of the common sha
over the prior 15 day:

In January 2015, $39,360 in principal amount ofIB@ indebtedness was converted to 4,000,000 conshares of the Compar

In January 2015 $25,800 in principal amount of ABays notes payable were converted to 1,761,660remmshares of the Compal

In January 2015 $18,000 in principal amount of L@pital notes payable were converted to 1,588,248nwon shares of tl
Company.

In February an officer of the Company exchanged8&2in sharehold’s loans for 227,273 common shares of the Comg
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registhas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

CARDIOGENICS HOLDINGS INC.

By: /s/ Yahia Gawa

Yahia Gawac
Chief Executive Office

Dated: February 12, 2015

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf of
Registrant and in the capacities and on the daieated.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE
/sl Yahia Gawa Chief Executive Officer February 12, 2015
Yahia Gawac
/sl James Ess¢ Chief Financial Officer February 12, 2015
James Esse
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Our report on our audits of the consolidated finalnstatements of CardioGenics Holdings, Inc. aaraf for the years ended October 31, :
and 2013, which expressed an unqualified opiniontlmse financial statements and contains an exgangaragraph relating to t
Company’s ability to continue as a going concengjuded in this Annual Report on Form KOfor the year ended October 31, 2014, is ¢
February 12, 2015. We consent to the incorporatiypmeference of our report in the following regigion statements previously filed by
Company with the Securities and Exchange Commigsioeuant to the Securities Act of 1933: the regiikin statement on Forms&with
SEC file No. 333-137162.

/s/ CohnReznick LL

Roseland, New Jerst
February 12, 201







EXHIBIT 31.1
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, Yahia Gawad, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 1fKthe year ended October 31, 2014 of CardioGeadaldings Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorany untrue statement of a material fact or amgitate a material fact necessary to r
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period coverec
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material resp
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) aretriat control over financial reporting (as definradExchange Act Rules 13E5(f) anc
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduwe caused such disclosure controls and procediardoe designed under
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made known to us by ot
within those entities, particularly during the metiin which this report is being provided;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance riegattie reliability of financial reporting and theparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registgadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtidis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in the report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportintgat occurred during the registramthos
recent fiscal quarter (the registramfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrg that has materially affected, or is reasopdikkly to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting.

5. The registran$ other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbédsed on our most recent evaluation of internaltrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theitaadmmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden!
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cémver financial reporting which &
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and,

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a samiifiole in the registrastinterna
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 12, 2015

/s/ Yahia Gawau

Yahia Gawac
Chief Executive Office







EXHIBIT 31.2
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, James Essex, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 1fKthe year ended October 31, 2014 of CardioGeadaldings Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorany untrue statement of a material fact or amgitate a material fact necessary to r
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period coverec
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material resp
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) aretriat control over financial reporting (as definradExchange Act Rules 13E5(f) anc
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduwe caused such disclosure controls and procediardoe designed under
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made known to us by ot
within those entities, particularly during the metiin which this report is being provided;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance riegattie reliability of financial reporting and theparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registgadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtidis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in the report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportintgat occurred during the registramthos
recent fiscal quarter (the registramfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrg that has materially affected, or is reasopdikkly to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting.

5. The registran$ other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbédsed on our most recent evaluation of internaltrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theitaadmmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden!
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cémver financial reporting which &
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and,

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a samiifiole in the registrastinterna
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 12, 2015

/sl James Esse

James Esse
Chief Financial Office







EXHIBIT 32.1

Section 906 Certification by the Chief Executive Gfcer and Chief Financial Officer

Each of Yahia Gawad, Chief Executive Officer, amunds Essex, Chief Financial Officer, of CardioGsgnitoldings Inc., a Neva

corporation (the “Company”) hereby certifies pursitn 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, as added by ss. 906eo0S#hrbane®xley Act of 2002, that, -
their knowledge:

(1) The Company’s annual report on Form 10-K fa ylear ended October 31, 2014 (“Form 10-Killy complies with the requiremet
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Form KCrairly presents, in all material respects, theaficial condition and results of operatiol
the Company.

/s/ Yahia Gawau /s/ James Esse
Name:Yahia Gawac Name:James Esse
Title: Chief Executive Office Title: Chief Financial Office

Date: February 12, 201







